
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Lisa Antrobus, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207064 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk 

www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 

Tuesday, 12 January 2016 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Audit Committee will be held on 
 

Wednesday, 20 January 2016 
 

commencing at 2.00 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Tyerman (Chairman) 

 

Councillor Bent 

Councillor O'Dwyer (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Robson 

 

Councillor Stocks 

Councillor Stringer 

 

 

 

A prosperous and healthy Torbay 



(2) 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive any apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 4 - 13) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the 

Audit Committee held on 29 July 2015 and 23 September 2015. 
 

3.   Declarations of interests 
 

 

(a)   To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 

(b)   To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect 
of items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 
 

4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Treasury Management Strategy 2016/17 (incorporating the 

Annual Investment Strategy 2016/17 and the Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 2016/17) 

(Pages 14 - 42) 

 To consider a report that outlines the Treasury Management 
Strategy. 
 

6.   Internal Audit - Half Year Report 2015/16 (Pages 43 - 80) 
 To consider a report that enables Members to monitor and review 

the internal audit programme and findings, and to monitor the 
progress and performance of Internal Audit in accordance with the 
Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference. 
 
 



(3) 

7.   Certification Work for Torbay Council for Year Ended 31 March 
2015 

(Pages 81 - 84) 

 To note the above. 
 

8.   Audit Committee Update for Torbay Council (Pages 85 - 99) 
 To consider a report that details progress on delivering Grant 

Thornton’s responsibilities as the Council’s external auditors. 
 

9.   Performance and Risk (Page 100) 
 To consider a report on the above. 

 



 
 

Minutes of the Audit Committee 
 

29 July 2015 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillors Bent, O'Dwyer, Robson, Tyerman and Stocks 
 
 

 
1. Election of Chairman/woman  

 
Councillor Tyerman was elected as Chairman for the 2015/2016 Municipal Year. 
 

(Councillor Tyerman in the chair) 
 

2. Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Stockman. 
 
It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Liberal Democrat Group, 
the membership of the Committee had been amended for this meeting by 
including Councillor Stocks instead of Councillor Darling. 
 

3. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 18 March 2015 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

4. Appointment of Vice-Chairman/woman  
 
Councillor O’Dwyer was appointed Vice-Chairman of the Audit Committee for the 
2015/2016 Municipal Year. 
 

5. Audit Committee Terms of Reference  
 
Members of the Committee requested the Terms of Reference be updated to 
reflect the Committee’s responsibilities in respect of Treasury Management and 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).  Members were advised 
technical amendments to the Constitution could be made by the Monitoring Officer 
in consultation with the Group Leaders. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Chairman be authorised to 
propose amendments to the Audit Committee Terms of Reference for the 
Monitoring Officer and Group Leaders to consider. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 29 July 2015 
 

 

6. Torbay Council Audit Findings Report 2014/15  
 
Members noted a report that highlighted key matters arising from Grant Thornton’s 
audit of the Council’s financial statements for the year ending 15 March 2015.  As 
the Council’s external auditors Grant Thornton are required to provide their opinion 
on whether the Council’s financial statements present a true and fair view of the 
financial position, expenditure and income for the year and whether the financial 
statements have been made in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting.  Members were also informed that Grant Thornton 
were also required to reach a formal conclusion on whether the Council has put in 
place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources (the Value for Money conclusion). 
 
Members were advised that Torbay would be one of the first local authorities in the 
South West to receive an opinion of their financial statements.  Mark Bartlett of 
Grant Thornton advised that the draft accounts were produced to a good standard, 
the audit was facilitated by good supporting working papers and excellent 
assistance from the finance team.  Grant Thornton had not identified any 
adjustments affecting the Council’s reported financial position and as such was 
able to anticipate providing an unqualified opinion in respect of the financial 
statements. 
 

7. Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2014/15  
 
Members were advised that the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 require 
approval of the Council’s Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance 
Statement for the year ended 31 March 2015 by a Committee of the Council 
before 31 September 2015. 
 
Members paid particular attention to the pension liability (as set out in the table at 
Appendix 1 under heading ‘Material Assets or Liabilities acquired – Assets’).  
Members sought clarification on the criteria that would enable a scheme to be 
placed in the ‘other scheme’ category as this totalled £13.4 million.  In response 
the Chief Finance Officer agreed to circulate the criteria and provide a web link to 
the most recent capital outturn report. 
 
Members proceeded to consider the Annual Governance Statement (AGS).  The 
Assistant Director for Corporate and Business Services advised the Committee 
that the AGS had been compiled using a new format as the previous AGS did not 
make reference to the Code of Corporate Governance.  Taking account of the 
Code of Corporate Governance, this had resulted in a change of emphasis with 
the AGS becoming a document that evolves and is built upon throughout the year 
rather than written in hindsight. 
 
Members requested a separate statement regarding the Audit Committee holding 
the Mayor and executive to account from the Overview and Scrutiny Board, to 
enable the Audit Committee to undertake investigations in order to seek assurance 
that the appropriate controls are in place. 
 
Resolved: 

Page 5



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 29 July 2015 
 

 

 
i) that the Audit Committee reviewed the accounts including the significant 

accounting policies and considered the External Auditor’s report and 
opinion on the accounts: 

 
ii) that the Assistant Director of Corporate and Business Services be 

authorised to correct typing errors and amend the following statement:  
 

‘The Audit Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Board have met 
throughout the year to hold the Mayor and executive to account and 
therefore provide assurance.’ 

 
iii) that subject to the amendments in ii) above the Annual Governance 

Statement as set out in pages 98 to 110 of Appendix 2 to the report be 
approved; 

 
iv) that the Council’s Statement of Accounts for 2014/15, as set out in pages 

14 to 97 of Appendix 2 to the report be approved; 
 
v) that the Chairman of the Audit Committee sign and date the accounts on 

behalf of the Council, to represent the completion of the Council’s approval 
process of the accounts, in the ‘Statement of Responsibilities for the 
Statement of Accounts’ shown on page 16 of the Statement of Accounts;  

 
vi) that the Letter of Representation to Grant Thornton from the Council in 

relation to the 2014/15 Statement of Accounts, as set out in Appendix 1 to 
the report be approved; and  

 
vii) that the Chief Finance Officer establish a schedule of training on the 

Statement of Accounts, including a workshop when the accounts are in draft 
form, for Members of the Audit Committee. 

 
8. Treasury Management Outturn 2014/15  

 
The Committee considered a report that informed Members of the performance of 
the Treasury Management function in supporting the provision of Council services 
in 2014/15 through management of cash flow, debt and investment operations and 
the effective control of the associated risks. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer advised Members that a briefing had been arranged for 
September.  Several advisors on investment methods would be present in order 
for Members and Officers to consider different investment approaches with a 
report then being presented to the Audit Committee on 23 September 2015. 
 

9. Annual Audit Report 2014/15  
 
Members were advised that the Audit Committee, under its Terms of Reference, 
was required to consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual Report, in order to 
review and approve the Internal Audit programme, and to monitor the progress 
and performance of Internal Audit. 

Page 6



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 29 July 2015 
 

 

 
The Chief Internal Auditor informed Members that Internal Audit had not identified 
any fundamental weaknesses with only 14 areas ‘requiring improvements’ during 
2014/15 – overall a reasonably positive report given the changes that the authority 
had undergone. 
 
Members queried why some partner organisations were not required to have an 
internal audit function.  Members were advised should they require assurance on 
partners governance arrangements, the contracts would need to specify such a 
requirement.  Members requested future contracts include arrangements to 
require independent assurance from the contractor or retain the right for the 
Council’s internal audit team to undertake an examination and evaluation of the 
governance arrangements.   
 
Members noted that a significant amount of work on Children Services had been 
deferred due to the changes that were being implemented.  Members were 
advised that the issue had been raised with the Senior Leadership Team and the 
Chief Internal Auditor had been reassured that a plan would be in place in order 
for Internal Audit to review the processes.  Members were further informed that the 
Internal Audit Team had been asked to undertake a review on the Children 
Services 7 year plan. 
 
Members sought reassurance that the savings plan was being monitored 
adequately, the Assistant Director of Corporate and Business Services agreed to 
forward the budget tracker to the Chief Internal Auditor for him to assess whether 
there would be any added value to include in internal audit reports. 
 

10. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000  
 
Members considered a report that reminded Members of the amendments to the 
guidance on the use of RIPA and the 2014 inspection recommendations.   
 
Members acknowledged that the Council had not undertaken a RIPA authorisation 
since 2008 and requested future updates include information on investigation 
powers that were below the RIPA level in order for the Council’s use of RIPA to be 
put into context. 
 
Resolved: 
 
i) that the Audit Committee receives quarterly reports from the RIPA Co-

ordinator on the use of RIPA within the Council; and 
 
ii) that the proposed actions to be taken by the RIPA Co-ordinator in response 

to the Office of the Surveillance Commissioner’s inspection of the Council’s 
RIPA procedures and their recommendations as set out in paragraph 4.15 
of the submitted report be noted. 

Page 7



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 29 July 2015 
 

 

 
11. Performance and Risk Framework  

 
Members noted the report and were informed that despite the withdrawal of the 
Corporate Plan officers were continuing to work towards delivery plans along the 
lines of the themes contained within the plan.  Members were advised that a 
managers working group would be set up in order to review and challenge risks 
and mitigation.  The group would also provide service level managers the 
opportunity to feed into the strategic risks encouraging greater ownership. 
 
Members welcomed the update and requested the risk dashboards be populated 
in line with the themes set out in the draft Corporate Plan – plan on a page. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman/woman 

Page 8



 
 

Minutes of the Audit Committee 
 

23 September 2015 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Tyerman (Chairman) 

 

Councillors Bent, Robson, Stocks and Stringer 
 
 

 

 
12. Apologies  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor O’Dwyer and Alex Walling. 
 

13. Minutes  
 
The Minutes were deferred to a future meeting. 
 

14. The Annual Audit Letter for Torbay Council  
 
Members noted the 2015/2016 Audit Fee Letter which set out the scale of fee’s 
which were determined by the Audit Commission. 
 

15. Audit Committee Update for Torbay Council  
 
Members noted the submitted report which set out the progress made by Grant 
Thornton in delivering their responsibilities as the Council’s external auditors.   
 
Members paid particular attention to the reports, Spreading their Wings and 
Welfare Reform:  Easing the burden and requested that hardcopies be supplied by 
Grant Thornton and circulated, via the Clerk. 
 

16. Follow Up Report on Areas Requiring Improvement  
 
Members noted the Internal Audit Follow Up Report on areas that were identified 
as ‘requiring improvement’.  Members were advised that the majority of areas had 
made progress implementing their action plans resulting in previously identified 
risks being minimised or mitigated, however the limited progress made in certain 
action plans meant a number of risks previously identified and highlighted to 
management continue to remain. 
 
Members noted that progress in particular areas had been limited, in particular, 
ICT Continuity and Children’s Services. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2
Appendix 1



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 23 September 2015 
 

 

Members also noted the resourcing issues within Parking Services and the impact 
on the services ability to fully address the recommendations made.  Members had 
regard to the original report being submitted in June 2014 and questioned whether 
it was still relevant. 
 
Members were advised that all risks identified in the 2014 Parking Services report 
remain, but the recommendations may change over time.  Members requested 
that the Executive Head for Business Services revisit the original 2014 document 
to ensure the recommendations are still relevant. 
 
Members questioned that some risks were not being addressed as quickly as in 
previous years and questioned whether due to increasing capacity issues within 
service areas there was a necessity to action risks according to severity, with 
managers prioritising high and medium risks and having to accept that lower 
graded risks would not have the appropriate action plans implemented. 
 
Members were advised that if a risk cannot be mitigated then the risk would 
remain and requested that as part of the reporting process an additional sub-
section be added to reflect these know risks. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) that the Executive Head for Business Services revisit the original 2014 

Internal Audit Report on Parking Services to ensure the recommendations 
are still relevant and identify any that require modifying; 
 

(ii) that Service Managers identify risks that they deem to be low priority and 
unlikely to be actioned, which they accept as a risk.  A report to be 
submitted to the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) with the reason the 
recommendation identified is unlikely to be actioned and an evaluation of 
the risk to the Service Area, requesting that SLT accept the risk; and 
  

(iii) that a Report from the Service Manager be brought to Audit Committee, if 
the recommendation to SLT has been agreed for acceptance of the 
identified risk to remain unactioned.  Upon approval from the Audit 
Committee the identified risk will be moved to a new sub-section as part of 
the Internal Audit Report – Direction of Travel. 

 
17. Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2015/16  

 
Members considered a report that provided a mid-year review of Treasury 
Management activities during the first part of 2015/16. The Treasury function aims 
to support the provision of all Council Services through management of the 
Council’s cash flow and debt and investment operations. 
 
Members noted that interest rates have remained at historically low levels with 
current and expected levels of borrowing rates providing no economic opportunity 
to make any early repayment or borrowing. 
 

Page 10



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 23 September 2015 
 

 

Members were advised that the new government is likely to step up the divestment 
of Lloyds Bank and accordingly have re-classified the Bank as a higher risk within 
the counterparty policy.  The Principal Accountant explained that existing exposure 
in the Bank will be unwound naturally as deposits mature to comply with the 
associated lower investment limits 
 
This re-classification will add significant additional pressure on the investment 
portfolio both in terms of available counterparties and the lower level of returns 
available. 
 
In response to a request from the Audit Committee Meeting on the 15 January 
2015 as part of the Treasury Management Strategy for 2015/16, Officers held a 
briefing session for all Members with presentations on Peer to Peer lending, Multi 
Asset Funds and Property Funds to evaluate to enable them to report on the 
impact of diversifying into new higher risk investments which could enhance the 
Council’s investment portfolio. 
 
The Audit Committee gave feedback on the briefing session and considered the 
positive and negative risks and benefits associated with each option. 
 
Members noted that the Aberdeen Asset Management – Multi Asset Fund was a 
new fund and had no performance data available, although figures are anticipated 
during October.  The Council’s advisors, Capita Asset Services are due to meet 
with Aberdeen Asset Management in October, and Members resolved to delay 
considering this option until advice had been received from Capita Asset Services. 
 
The Audit Committee agreed that there should be a cap set on any investment and 
that there should be scope for the Section 151 Officer to test that water between 
now and February 2016 and report back, also for the Section 151 Officer to make 
a revised recommendation based on the Capita Asset Services Advice. 
 
Members noted that feedback from the Audit Committee would be reflected in the 
Treasury Strategy which will then go to a Policy Development Group and then 
Council in October 2015 for approval. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) that the Treasury Management decisions made during 2015/16 the first part 

of 2015/16 as detailed in the submitted report be noted;  
(ii) that the Prudential and Treasury Indicators as set out in Appendix 2 of the 

submitted report be noted; and 
 

(iii) that the Council be recommended to vary the Annual Investment Strategy 
to allow diversification of the investment portfolio into higher risk 
investments, initially on an experimental basis,  
and approve investment in a combination of two or three of the following 
instruments;  

 peer to peer lending – with overall investment of £100,000; maximum 
individual loan amount of £1,000; maximum loan term of three years; 
and a maximum credit rating “B”;  

Page 11



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 23 September 2015 
 

 

 Multi Asset Fund pending Capita advice; and  

 Property Fund. 
 

18. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)  
 
Members considered a quarterly report from the RIPA Co-ordinator on the use of 
RIPA within the Council and noted that the Information Governance Lead is 
leaving the Council and the role will be altered.  Once a new RIPA Co-ordinator 
has been appointed, the Audit Committee will be informed. 
 
 

19. Performance and Risk Framework  
 
Members considered a report which outlined the initial Performance and Risk 
Dashboards, for each of the targeted action areas which will align to the Corporate 
Plan, which is due to be considered at Council in September 2015. 
 
Subject to approval, the next stage for the Corporate Plan is for the development 
of longer term Delivery Plans. 
 
The Dashboards still need to be populated with data and mitigating actions and 
progress.  Members indicated that they would like an additional line inserted to 
allow national benchmarking to be included. 
 
Members were advised that a Risk and Support Group will be set up to meet in 
late October with a remit to challenge. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) that the Audit Committee considered the performance indicators and risks 
 contained within the Dashboards (as per appendix one of the submitted 
 report) and provided feedback to the Policy, Performance and Review 
 Manager;  
 
(ii) that the Audit Committee considered the draft Terms of Reference (as per 
 appendix one of the submitted report) and provided feedback to the Policy, 
 Performance and Review Manager;  
 
(iii) that a Representative from Audit Committee be invited to attend a Risk and 
 Support Group meeting to observe; and 
 
(iv) that the Policy, Performance and Review Manager provide a briefing/update 
 session for Audit Committee Members and Scrutiny Members after the first 
 two Risk and Support Group Meetings, by mid November 2015. 
 

20. Adult and Children Services Budget Overspend 'Deep Dive'  
 
The Chairman advised Members of the Audit Committee that the Executive 
Director had requested that the Committee may wish to accept a commission to 

Page 12



Audit Committee   Wednesday, 23 September 2015 
 

 

investigate and challenge the budget overspend and decision making processes 
for both Adults and Children’s Services as a ‘Deep Dive’ exercise.   
 
This request has been made In accordance with paragraph 11 of the Audit 
Committee Terms of Reference.  The Audit Committee could establish a Working 
Party or to refer the matter to the Devon Audit Partnership for internal 
investigation.  A Working Party made up of Committee Members would be 
required to report its findings to the Audit Committee, and then to the Executive 
Director by no later than 27 November 2015. 
  
Members requested clarification as to the proposed role of a Working Party to 
investigate and challenge the budget overspend and decision making processes 
and Devon Audit Partnership role to audit the Service areas and what the 
differences would be, to ascertain the appropriateness of this request. 
 
Devon Audit Partnership advised Members that an investigation could be 
undertaken by a Working Party to consider the budget overspend and decision 
making that has already occurred in the past along with the overspend and viability 
of the 5 year plan .  The remit of Devon Audit Partnership is to assess and review 
current practices and identify risks now or in the future. 
 
Members resolved to accept the request to investigate both Adults and Children’s 
Services and to establish a Working Party comprising of Members of the Audit 
Committee.  Meetings will be supported by Governance Support Officers to record 
the outcomes and assist in the report of findings to come back to Audit Committee. 
 
Members considered draft Terms of Reference for the Working Party. 
 
Resolved: 
 

(i) To delegate to the Assistant Director – Corporate and Business Services, in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Audit Committee to establish a 
Working Party to investigate both Adult and Children’s Services,  
comprising of 3 Members of the Audit Committee (2 Conservative, 1 Liberal 
Democrat) with it being acceptable for non-Audit Committee Councillors to 
be co-opted to the Working Party; 
 

(ii) To delegate to the Assistant Director – Corporate and Business Services, 
the Executive Director and Internal Audit, in consultation with the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee to finalise the Terms of Reference; and 
 

(iii) To delegate to the Assistant Director – Corporate and Business Services, in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Audit Committee to informally report 
findings to the Executive Director by 27 November 2015 and report findings 
back to Members at the January 2016 Audit Committee. 

 
 
 
 

Chairman/woman 

Page 13



 
 

 
Meeting:  Audit Committee Date:  20th January 2016 

Adjourned Council  11th February 2016 
 
Wards Affected:  All Wards in Torbay 
 
Report Title:  Treasury Management Strategy 2016/17 (incorporating the Annual 

Investment Strategy 2016/17 and the Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy 2016/17) 

 
Is the decision a key decision? No 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?   
 
Executive Lead Contact Details:  Mayor, 01803 207001, mayor@torbay.gov.uk  
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Pete Truman, Principal Accountant, 01803 
207302, pete.truman@torbay.gov.uk 

 

 
1. Proposal and Introduction 
 

 
1.1 The Strategy outlined in this report aims to support the provision of all Council 

services by the management of the Council’s cash flow, debt and investment 
operations in 2016/17 and effectively control the associated risks and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

 
1.2 The overall objectives of the Treasury Management Strategy are: 

 To ensure sufficient funding is available for day-to-day activities and capital 
projects through effective cash flow management 

 To seek to reduce the impact on the revenue account of net interest costs 
through optimal levels of borrowing and investment  

 To prioritise control of risks in investing cash and to then achieve maximum 
returns from those investments commensurate with proper levels of security 
and liquidity. 

 
2. Reason for Proposal 
 

2.1 The Treasury Management Strategy is considered under a requirement of the 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management which was adopted by the 

Council on 25th March 2010.  

2.2  The approval of an Annual Investment Strategy by Council is a requirement of the 
Guidance on Local Government Investments issued by the Secretary of State 
under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003. This sets out the 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



Council’s policies for managing its investments under the priorities of security first, 
liquidity second and then returns. 

 
2.3 In addition, the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to ‘have regard to‘ 

the Prudential Code and to set Prudential Indicators for the next three years to 

ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 

sustainable.   

2.4 Under CLG regulations the Council is required to approve a Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) Statement in advance of each year.  

2.5 At its meeting on 22nd October 2015 Council approved the diversification of a 
proportion of the investment portfolio into peer-to-peer lending. On review of the 
process and returns of the initial period the Chief Finance Officer is recommending 
a prudent increase to the maximum exposure limit. 

 
3. Recommendation(s) / Proposed Decision 

 
Audit Committee 
 

3.1 That the Treasury Management Strategy for 2016/17 set out in Appendix 1 to 
the submitted report be endorsed. 
 
Council 
 

3.2 That an increase to the maximum exposure to Peer to Peer Lending  from 
£100,000 to £200,000 as set out within Appendix 6 of this report be approved. 
 

3.3 That the Treasury Management Strategy for 2016/17 (incorporating the 
Annual Investment Strategy 2016/17)  be approved; 

3.4 That the Prudential and Treasury Indicators 2016/17 laid out in section 5 and 
Appendix 1 of the submitted report be approved; 

 
3.5 That in line with the Council’s Constitution and Financial Regulations: 
 

(i)       the Chief Finance Officer be authorised to take any decisions on 
borrowing and investments. (Delegations to the Section 151 Officer, 
paragraph 3.1(a));  

 
(ii)      that the Chief Finance Officer be authorised to invest temporarily or 

utilise surplus monies of the Council; (Financial Regulations, 
paragraph 14.5); and 

 
3.6 That the Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement for 2016/17 as 

shown in Annex 2 to the submitted report be approved. 
 
3.7 That the Chief Finance Officer be delegated authority to revise the approved 

2015/16 Minimum Revenue Policy if beneficial to the Council. 
 
4. Background 
 
4.1 The Council defines its treasury management activities as: 

Page 15



“The management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, it’s 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”. 
 

 4.2 It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, for the Council to produce a balanced budget.  Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s risk appetite, 
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 

 
4.3 In particular, Section 32 of the Act requires a local authority to calculate its budget 

requirement for each financial year to include the revenue costs that flow from 

capital financing decisions.  This report, together with the rolling Capital Investment 

Plan, forms an integrated strategy to ensure the affordability of capital projects. 

4.4 The provisional 2016/17 budget for interest payments has therefore been set at a 

level which will cover the Council’s borrowing requirements in the Capital 

Investment Plan together with cash flow costs arising from capital projects. 

 

4.5 The core balances for which cash backing is required reflects the level of Council 
reserves, provisions, unapplied grants and contributions and working capital. This 
links to the Capital Investment Plan and Medium Term Resource Plan which form 
the basis of the Council’s longer term strategic cash flow forecasts. 

4.6 The proposed strategy for 2016/17 covers two main areas: 

 

 Capital issues 

 Capital expenditure and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury Management issues 

 

 core funds and expected investment balances 

 Prudential and Treasury Indicators; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 Borrowing; 

 the Annual Investment Strategy; 

 policy on use of external service providers; 

 reporting arrangements and management evaluation; 

 other matters 

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, CLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and CLG Investment Guidance. 

 
 

Page 16



 
 
 
 
 

5. Capital expenditure and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 

5.1 The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 

activity and provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council to ensure its 

capital spending obligations can be met. This long term cash flow management 

may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using long term cash flow 

surpluses. On occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 

Council risk or cost objectives. 

5.2 The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, 

which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure 

plans. 

 
Capital Expenditure 
 
5.3 This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, 

both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.  
Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

 

Capital 

expenditure 

£m 

2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Total 20.4 29.9 40.0 23.7 5.5 

 

 
5.4 The above financing need excludes other long term liabilities, such as PFI and 

leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments.   

Capital expenditure 

£m 

2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Total 20.4 29.9 40.0 23.7 5.5 

Financed by:      

Capital receipts 0.1 0.9 1.8 0 0 

Capital grants 13.0 14.2 20.4 11.2 4.2 

Capital reserves 1.0 0.1 1.2 0.3 (0.4) 

Revenue 0.8 0.9 0.2 0.1 0.1 

Contributions 0.6 0.4 0.2 0 0 

Page 17



 

5.5  The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these 

plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of 

resources results in a funding borrowing need.  

 
The Capital Financing Requirement 
 

5.6  The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement 

(CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which 

has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially 

a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need.  Any capital expenditure 

above, which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR.   

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) 

is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in 

line with each assets life. 

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).  

Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, 

these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not 

required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council currently has £40M 

of such schemes within the estimated CFR. 

 

The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 

 
 *Includes 17% share of liabilities relating to the Energy from Waste facility in Plymouth 

 

Net financing need 

for the year 
4.9 13.4 18.7 9.6 1.6 

£m 2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Capital Financing Requirement 

Total CFR 135 174 187 191 187 

Movement in CFR (1) 39 13 4 (4) 

      

Movement in CFR represented by 

Net financing need 

for the year (above) 
5 44* 19 10 11 

Less MRP/VRP and 

other financing 

movements 

(6) (5) (6) (7) (7) 

Movement in CFR (1) 39 13 3 (4) 

Page 18



 
 
 
 
 
6. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement 
 

6.1 The Council is required to set aside an element of the accumulated General Fund 

capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum 

revenue provision - MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional 

voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).   

6.2  The recommended MRP Policy for 2016/17 is set out at Appendix 2 to this 
report.6.3 The Chief Finance Officer will be fully reviewing this MRP policy in the 
coming months. The review will consider alternative options, the assessment may 
result in proposed changes to the above 2016/17 policy.  If the 2016/17 policy does 
need updating the amendments will be presented within the Treasury Management 
Mid-Year Review report in the autumn of 2016.  
 

6.3 The Chief Finance Officer will be fully reviewing this MRP policy in the coming 
months. The review will consider alternative options, the assessment may result in 
proposed changes to the above 2016/17 policy.  If the 2016/17 policy does need 
updating the amendments will be presented within the Treasury Management Mid-
Year Review report in the autumn of 2016. 

 
6.4  Subject to Council approval the Chief Finance Officer will also review the existing 

approved 2015/16 MRP policy if beneficial to the Council. 
 
 
7. Core funds and expected investment balances  

Year End Resources 

£m 

2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Fund balances / 

reserves 
35 29 24 20 20 

Capital receipts 3 1 3 3 3 

Provisions 2 2 2 2 2 

Other 9 10 10 10 10 

Total core funds 49 42 39 35 35 

Working capital* 11 10 10 10 10 

Page 19



7.1 The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital 

expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an 

ongoing impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from 

new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed below are estimates of the year end 

balances for each resource and anticipated day to day cash flow balances. 

 

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher mid year  

 
8. Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
 
8.1 Local Authorities are required to set indicators to demonstrate they have fulfilled the 

objectives of the Prudential Code and CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management. The indicators for 2016/17 and future years are set out at Appendix1. 

 
 

9.  Prospects for interest rates 

9.1 The Council has appointed Capita Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part of 

their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  The 

following table gives their central view with a more detailed analysis provided at 

Appendix 3. 

 

 
 
9.2 An economic commentary provided by Capita Asset Services is provided at 

Appendix 4 for information. 
 
 
 
10. Borrowing 
 
10.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 5 provide details of the service 

activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the the relevant professional codes, 
so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity.  This will involve 
both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the 
organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the relevant 
treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the 
annual investment strategy. 

 

(Under)/over borrowing 11 3 (13) (23) (23) 

Expected investments 71 55 36 22 13 

Page 20



10.2 The Council’s borrowing portfolio position at 31 March 2015, with forward 
projections are  summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the 
treasury management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need 
(the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under 
borrowing.  

 

 

 

 

 

£m 

2014/15 

Actual 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

External Debt 

Debt at 1 April  138 138 138 138 134 

Expected change in 
Debt 

0 0 0 (4) (2) 

Other long-term 

liabilities (OLTL) 
8 7 39 36 34 

Expected change in 

OLTL 
(1) 32 (3) (2) (2) 

Actual gross debt at 

31 March  
146 177 174 168 164 

The Capital Financing 

Requirement 
135 174 187 191 187 

(Under) /over 

borrowing 
11 3 (13) (23) (23) 

 
 
 
10.3 In recent years the Council has been in an over-borrowed position giving rise to a 

key strategy aim of early repaying existing loans. The situation will reverse in 
2016/17 with borrowing levels falling below the requirement and the Council 
utilising its cash resources (internal borrowing) to fund the balance in the short 
term. 

 
10.4  New Capital schemes will significantly increase the internal borrowing position 

beyond the level the CFO believes is prudent for the Council to successfully meet 
its future commitments. The level of external borrowing therefore needs to increase 
to close the gap to the CFR and the rate forecasts in section 9 indicate the optimum 
timing for borrowing to be in the short term prior to expected rate rises. 

 
10.5 Consequently the borrowing strategy for 2016/17 will focus on taking new 

borrowing of up to £10million to restrict the projected internal borrowing position to 
a level of around £10M and retain sufficient cash to back core funds. The CFO will 

Page 21



aim to borrow within a preferred maturity range of 10 to 25 years to lock into 
affordable rates over the life of new assets. 

 
10.6 Consideration will also be given to forward refinancing of existing loans maturing in 

subsequent years if new rate projections forecast a significant rise in future 
borrowing levels.  

 
10.7 The CFO will also continue to monitor for opportunities (sharp drop in rates) to 

reschedule existing loans with the aim of achieving revenue savings and/or 
reducing the average maturity structure of the debt portfolio. 

 
10.8 The budget for payment of interest on debt for 2016/17, assuming new borrowing 

per para 10.5,is based on an overall borrowing rate of 4.34% (4.39% in 2015/16). 

 
 
11. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

Investment policy 

11.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s  Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice. 

 
11.2 The Council’s investment priorities, in line with CLG Guidance, are: -  
 
  the security of capital   

the liquidity of its investments.  
 

11.3 The Council will also aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. 

  
11.4 The borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful 

and the Council will not engage in such activity. 
 
11.5 Appendix 5 to this report details the creditworthiness policy for selection of 

counterparties and management of investments to achieve the objectives of the 
Investment Policy. 

 
11.6 A decision by the Chief Finance Officer to temporarily remove all Eurozone Banks, 

regardless of rating, from the approved counterparty list for in-house investments 
remains in place but does not form part of this policy. 

 
11.7 Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed at Appendix 

6 under the ‘Specified’ and ‘Non-Specified’ Investments categories. Counterparty 
limits will be set within the schedules accompanying the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices. 

 
 
11.8 The Investment Strategy is based on current projected cash levels. If any significant 

changes occur to cash levels, then the Investment Strategy will need to be 
reviewed. 

 

Page 22



11.9 The Council does not adopt a specific Ethical Investments policy but officers will 
have regard to any questionable activity on the part of a counterparty or sovereign 
government before depositing funds. 

 
 Investment Strategy 
 
11.10 Investment returns are likely to remain low in 2016/17 despite forecast rises in Bank 

rate (see section 9). 
 
11.11 Expected investment levels at section 7 are subject to increasing risk. Counterparty 

pressure (lack of suitable risk institutions) have eased slightly but remains a 
significant limiting factor. Investment rates available to the Council continue to be 
influenced to the downside due to the effects of Quantitative Easing and Funding 
for Lending providing cheaper cash for Banks.  

 
11.12 The perceived risks to the Bank Rate forecasts are to the downside (i.e. rate rises 

may be later than expected). This scenario justifies the continued use of longer 
term deposits to lock into higher rates and provide guarantee of return in the short 
term. A total of £12 million is currently locked out beyond 2016 and this will be 
increased subject to suitable opportunities and compliance with the Treasury 
Indicator for prudent amounts to be invested for over 364 days.  

 
11.14 A proportion of funds will be held in business reserve and notice accounts to ensure 

appropriate liquidity is maintained for normal cash flow purposes and unexpected 
events and strategy transactions (eg repayment of loans prior to rescheduling). 

 
11.16 The external Fund Manager’s strategy and performance will be subject to 

continuous monitoring and the CFO will vary the size of the holding in line with the 
aims of the overall strategy and the expected reduction in cash balances. 

  

11.17 The interest receipts budget for 2016/17 is based on an average investment 
balance of £55 million and an average investment rate of 1.17% (the estimate for 
2015/16 was 0.94%).  

 
11.18 The CFO will continue to monitor the market for new opportunities to increase 

investment return and will report to Council as appropriate. 
 
11.19 In October 2015 Council approved the use of peer to peer lending as a new 

investment vehicle and a review on the early process and returns is included at 
Appendix 7 to this report. The initial period has been successful but too short a time 
to be fully confident of the risks at this stage. The CFO is therefore recommending 
only a limited increase in exposure up to £200,000 for 2016/17. 

 
11.20 Council further approved exposure to the Local Authorities Property Fund. Officers 

have delayed any investment to investigate potential new opportunities from other 
Funds permitted within the list of approved instruments at Appendix 6. The CFO will 
aim to invest £5M to £10M in such a fund during 2016/17 in line with Council 
approval. 

 
 
 
12. Treasury Management Consultants 

 

Page 23



12.1 The Council uses Capita Asset Services, Treasury solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors. 

 

12.2 The Council acknowledges that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The 
Chief Finance Officer will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods 
by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 

subjected to regular review.  

 
12.3 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 

the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon  our 
external service providers.  

 
 
 
 
 
13. Reporting Arrangements and Management Evaluation 
 
13.1  Members will receive the following reports for 2016/17 as standard in line with the 

requirements of the Code of Practice: 
 Annual Treasury Management Strategy report (this report) 

 Mid-Year Treasury Review report  

 Annual Treasury Outturn report 

13.2 The CFO will inform the Mayor/Executive Lead for Finance of any long-term 
borrowing/repayment undertaken or any significant events that may affect the 
Council’s treasury management activities. The CFO will maintain a list of staff 
authorised to undertake treasury management transactions on behalf of the 
Council. 

 
13.3 The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to approve any movement between 

borrowing and other long-term liabilities within the Authorised Limit. Any such 
change will be reported to the next meeting of the Council. 

 
13.4  The impact of these policies will be reflected as part of the Council’s revenue 

budget and therefore will be reported through the quarterly budget monitoring 
process. 

 
13.5  The Council’s management and evaluation arrangements for Treasury 

Management will be as follows: 

 Monthly monitoring report to the Chief Finance Officer, Executive Lead for 
Finance, relevant Director and Group Leaders 

 Periodic meeting of the Treasury Manager/Chief Finance Officer to review 
previous months performance and plan following months activities 

 Regular meetings with the Council’s treasury advisors 

 Annual meetings with the Council’s appointed Fund Managers 
 Membership and participation in the Capita Benchmarking Club 

 The Audit Committee is the body responsible for scrutiny of Treasury 
Management. 

 
 
14. Other Matters 

Page 24



 
14.1 Loans to organisations. The Council has provided loans or loan facilities to the 

following organisations. These are policy decisions and not part of the treasury 
management strategy except for identifying any impact on cash balances: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

*Not fully drawn down as at 31
st
 December 2015 

**Original advance repaid and no further drawdowns on the facility to date 

 The current overall rate of interest on these loans will be reported at the meeting. 
 
 
14.2 Advancing cash. If approved the Council will advance cash to Torbay Council 

schools at a rate equivalent to that of the forecast investment yield (to reflect the 
lost investment opportunity), with the option of an additional 0.25% risk premium. 
The service will have to identify the funding for this advance from revenue or 
reserves in the year of the advance. 

 
14.3 Investing cash for Local Payment Scheme (LPS) Schools. If agreed by the 

Chief Finance Officer the Council will invest LPS school surplus balances on a 
temporary basis and endeavour to match Bank Rate on these investments on a 

Organisation 
Value of loan 

at 01/04/15 
Full Term of 

Loan 
Rate 

Torbay Economic Development 
Company* 

£575,000 
25 years Linked to Council 

borrowing Rate 

Torbay Economic Development 
Company* 

£1,455,000 
25 years Linked to Council 

borrowing Rate 

Academy Schools £213,000 
3 to 7 years  Linked to Council 

borrowing Rate 

Babbacombe Cliff Railway £13,000 
10 years Linked to Council 

Borrowing Rate 

Housing Loans £2,000 

No new loans 
issued. Term 

linked to 
individual 
mortgages 

Linked to market 
mortgage rates 

Sports Clubs £30,000 
20 years Linked to Council 

Borrowing Rate 

Sports Clubs £5,000 
10 years Linked to Council 

Borrowing Rate 

Suttons Seeds Ltd ** £1,500,000** 3 years Market rate 

Torbay Coast & Country side Trust £900,000 
45 years Linked to Bank 

Base Rate 

Page 25



variable basis. This will be for cash on a longer-term basis and will not apply to 
daily cash flow balances. 

 
14.4 Soft Loans. New Financial Instruments require the recognition of soft loans i.e. 

where a loan is made at a lower than ‘competitive’ rate the cost implicit in achieving 
the lower rate must be reflected in the Council’s accounts. 

 
14.5 Anti-Money Laundering. The Council will comply with all relevant regulations. 
 
14.6 Intranet. The Council’s treasury management procedures and other relevant 

documents can be accessed on the Council’s intranet site within the financial 
services pages.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 
Appendix 2 Policy on Minimum Revenue Provision for 2016/17 
Appendix 3  Interest Rate Forecasts 2016 – 2019    

 Appendix 4  Economic Background      
 Appendix 5  Creditworthiness Policy      
 Appendix 6  Specified and Non-specified Investments 

Appendix 7  Review of Peer to Peer Lending 
 
 
 
 
 
Background Documents  
 
 
  

Page 26



 
Appendix 1 
 
Prudential & Treasury Management Indicators 2016/17 – 2018/19 

Affordability prudential indicators 

Section 5 of the report covers the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, 

but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the 

capital investment plans.   These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment 

plans on the Council’s overall finances.  The Council is asked to approve the following 

indicators: 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. 

 

% 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Ratio 9.11 11.55 11.98 12.73 
 

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this budget 

report. 

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on council tax 

This indicator identifies the revenue costs associated with proposed changes to the three year 
capital programme recommended in this budget report compared to the Council’s existing approved 
commitments and current plans.  The assumptions are based on the budget, but will invariably 
include some estimates, such as the level of Government support, which are not published over a 
three year period. 

 
Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on the band D council tax 

 
  

 

 

 

 

Limits on Borrowing and Long-Term Liabilities 

The Operational Boundary.  This is the limit beyond which external borrowing and long-

term liabilities are not normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be linked to 

the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual borrowing. 

% 2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Council tax - 
band D 

0.00 1.09 0.81 0.04 

Page 27



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Authorised Limit for external borrowing and long-term liabilities. A further key 

prudential indicator represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This 

represents a limit beyond which external borrowing is prohibited, and this limit needs to be 

set or revised by the full Council.  It reflects the level of external borrowing which, while 

not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.   

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 

2003. The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or 

those of a specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Limits on Activity 
There are three debt related treasury activity limits.  The purpose of these are to restrain 
the activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing risk and 
reducing the impact of any adverse movement in interest rates.  However, if these are set 
to be too restrictive they will impair the opportunities to reduce costs/improve 
performance. The indicators are: 

 Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum 
limit for variable interest rates based upon the debt position net of 
investments 

 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure. This is similar to the previous 
indicator and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates;  

 Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the 
Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing and 
are required for upper and lower limits 

 

Operational boundary    

£m 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Borrowing 148 167 170 170 

Long term liabilities 40 40 38 36 

Total 188 207 208 206 

Authorised limit 
                                 £m 

2015/16 

Estimate 

2016/17 

Estimate 

2017/18 

Estimate 

2018/19 

Estimate 

Borrowing 167 194 202 209 

Other long term liabilities 40 40 38 36 

Total 207 234 240 245 

Page 28



 

 
Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit 
 

Total principal funds invested for greater than 364 days. These limits are set with regard to 

the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, 

and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end. The limits below allow for 

the external Fund Manager holding along with 50% of the in-house total to be fixed longer 

term. 

Interest rate Exposures 

 2015/16   

Upper            

% 

2016/17   
Upper            

% 

2017/18   
Upper            

% 

2018/19   
Upper            

% 

Limits on fixed interest rates: 

 Debt 

 Investments 

 

100 

80 

 

100 

80 

 

100 

80 

 

100 

80 

Limits on variable interest 

rates: 

 Debt 

 Investments 

 

 

30 

75 

 

 

30 

75 

 

 

30 

75 

 

 

30 

75 

Maturity Structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2016/17 

 Lower Upper Projected 
31/03/2017 

Up to 10 years 5% 50% 19% 

10 to 20 years 5% 50% 19% 

20 to 30 years 10% 60% 24% 

30 to 40 years 10% 50% 27% 

Over 40 years 0% 50% 11% 

Maximum principal sums invested for over 364 days  

£m 2014/15 

Actual 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Principal sums invested > 

364 days 
27 51 28 16 12 

Page 29



Appendix 2 
 

Policy on Minimum Revenue Provision for 2016/17 
 

 
1. The Minimum Revenue Provision is a statutory charge that the Council is required 

to make from its revenue budget. This provision enables the Council to generate 
cash resources for the repayment of borrowing.  

 
2. The calculation of the provision is prescribed by legislation, which states that 

Councils are required to “determine for the current financial year an amount of 
MRP that it considers to be prudent” and prepare an annual statement on their 
MRP calculation to their full Council.  

 
3.  One of the aims of this legislation is to ensure that the repayment of principal 

owed for capital expenditure funded from unsupported borrowing is charged on a 
prudent basis. Central Government guidance says: 

 
“the broad aim of prudent provision is to ensure that debt is repaid over a 
period that is either reasonably commensurate with that over which the 
capital expenditure provides benefits, or, in the case of borrowing supported 
by Government Revenue Support Grant, reasonably commensurate with the 
period implicit in the determination of that grant.”  

 
4. The provision for all assets, irrespective of asset life, for expenditure funded from 

supported borrowing and prudential borrowing prior to 2007/08 will continue to be 
charged at a minimum 4% per annum which is in line with central government’s 
“support” for these costs within the Council’s formula grant.  

 
5. Torbay Council’s Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement states that 

the calculation of the MRP is as follows: 
  

i) The Council will budget as a minimum for a provision of 4% of its capital financing 
requirement calculated as at 31st March of the preceding financial year. The capital 
financing requirement (CFR) is a calculation of a Council’s “need to borrow” which 
is, in summary, the total of expenditure funded from borrowing less any repayments 
or similar previously made.  
 
To calculate the 4% provision the Council will use the “regulatory method” as 
identified in the Department of Communities and Local Government‘s (DCLG) 
Informal Commentary on the legislation.  
 
This calculation allows for the adjustments of the following items:  
 

 Deducting any expenditure and revenue provision made in relation to 
unsupported borrowing after 2007/08. The charge for unsupported borrowing 
after 2007/08 is calculated separately as described in paragraph ii below.  

 

 “Adjustment A” which relates to a previous calculation change in 2004  

Page 30



 Adjustment of MRP to ensure no disadvantage results to Councils from the 
regulations compared to previous MRP regulations Adjustment of MRP to 
ensure no disadvantage results to Councils from the requirements for 
accounting for Finance Lease and Private Finance Initiative schemes  

 
ii) For capital expenditure funded from unsupported borrowing, less any repayment 
to date, the Council will make a provision based on the cumulative expenditure 
incurred on each asset in the previous financial years using a prudent asset life, 
which reflects the estimated usable life of that asset.  

 

The Council will use the “asset life method” for the calculation.   
 
For 2016/17 unsupported borrowing will be further classified as either operational 
or investment, based on the expected use of the underlying asset.  
 
The MRP for each operational asset will be calculated, as in previous years, using 
an annuity calculation based on the Council’s estimated pooled borrowing interest 
rate for the relevant year as detailed in the Treasury Management Strategy for that 
year. An adjustment to the MRP calculation will be made where there is 
expenditure in the previous financial year, but the asset is not yet operational. MRP 
will be calculated on the total expenditure on that asset in the year after the asset 
becomes operational.  
 
The MRP for each investment asset will be calculated on the equal instalment 
method over the estimated life of the asset up to 50 years.  An adjustment to the 
MRP calculation will be made where there is expenditure in the previous financial 
year, but the asset is not yet ready for service. MRP will be calculated on the total 
expenditure on that asset in the year after the asset becomes available for rent. 

 
6.  Where relevant, the suggested asset lives for certain types of capitalised 

expenditure as detailed in the MRP guidance issued by DCLG will be used.  
 
7. The Council will continue to charge services for their use of unsupported borrowing 

using a prudent asset life (or a shorter period) and, if an operational asset an 
annuity calculation or if an investment asset an equal instalment calculation. 
Where possible the same asset life and borrowing interest rate will be used for 
both the charge to services and the calculation of the MRP.  

 
8. In exceptional circumstances a Service may be allowed to extend the repayment 

period beyond the prudent asset life but this may be limited to the interest element. 
The increased revenue cost over the longer term will be a Service issue.  

 
9. The Council will not change its existing “Adjustment A” calculation.  

 
10. To mitigate any negative impact from the changes in accounting for leases and PFI 

schemes the Council will include in the annual MRP charge an amount equal to 
the amount that has been taken to the balance sheet to reduce the balance sheet 
liability for a PFI scheme or a finance lease. The calculation will be based on the 
annuity method using the Internal Rate of Return (IRR) implicit in the PFI or lease 
agreement.  

 
 

Page 31



 
11.   Loans  

 
Where loans are given for capital purposes they come within the scope of the 
prudential controls established by the Local Government Act 2003. Regulation 
25(1) (b) of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 (SI 2003 No 3146).  

 
If a loan agreement does not include contractual commitments that the funds be 
put towards capital expenditure no MRP will be made, if however capital contract 
commitments are included then an MRP will be made on a prudent basis using 
Option 3 linked to the life of the asset being funded.  

 
The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) will increase by the amount of the loan. 
Once the funds are returned to the local authority, the returned funds are classed 
as a capital receipt with those receipts being earmarked specifically to that loan, 
and the CFR and loan will reduce accordingly. As this is a temporary arrangement 
and the expectation is that funds will be returned in full, there is no need to set 
aside prudent provision to repay the debt liability in the interim period, so there is 
no MRP application. The position will be reviewed on an annual basis. 
 

12 The Chief Finance Officer will be fully reviewing this MRP policy in the coming 
months. The review will consider alternative options, the assessment may result in 
proposed changes to the above 2016/17 policy.  If the 2016/17 policy does need 
updating the amendments will be presented within the Treasury Management Mid-
Year Review report in the autumn of 2016.  

  

Page 32



Appendix 3 

Interest Rate Forecasts 2016 – 2019 

PWLB rates and forecast shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective for new borrowingas of the 1st November 
2012. 

  

P
age 33



Appendix 4 

 Economic Background (supplied by Capita asset Services, 21/12/2015) 

 
UK. UK GDP growth rates in 2013 of 2.2% and 2.9% in 2014 were the strongest growth rates of 

any G7 country; the 2014 growth rate was also the strongest UK rate since 2006 and the 2015 

growth rate is likely to be a leading rate in the G7 again, probably being second to the US. 

However, quarter 1 of 2015 was weak at +0.4% (+2.9% y/y) though there was a rebound in quarter 

2 to +0.7% (+2.4% y/y) before weakening again to +0.5% (2.3% y/y) in quarter 3. The November 

Bank of England Inflation Report included a forecast for growth to remain around 2.5 – 2.7% over 

the next three years, driven mainly by strong consumer demand as the squeeze on the disposable 

incomes of consumers has been reversed by a recovery in wage inflation at the same time that 

CPI inflation has fallen to, or near to, zero since February 2015.  Investment expenditure is also 

expected to support growth. However, since the August Inflation report was issued, most 

worldwide economic statistics have been weak and the November Inflation Report flagged up 

particular concerns for the potential impact on the UK. 

 

The Inflation Report was also notably subdued in respect of the forecasts for inflation; this was expected 

to barely get back up to the 2% target within the 2-3 year time horizon. The increase in the forecast for 

inflation at the three year horizon was the biggest in a decade and at the two year horizon was the 

biggest since February 2013. However, the first round of falls in oil, gas and food prices over late 

2014 and also in the first half 2015, will fall out of the 12 month calculation of CPI during late 2015 

/ early 2016 but a second, more recent round of falls in fuel prices will now delay a significant tick 

up in inflation from around zero: this is now expected to get back to around 1% in the second half 

of 2016 and not get to near 2% until 2017, though the forecasts in the Report itself were for an 

even slower rate of increase. There is considerable uncertainty around how quickly pay and CPI 

inflation will rise in the next few years and this makes it difficult to forecast when the MPC will 

decide to make a start on increasing Bank Rate. 

 

USA. The American economy made a strong comeback after a weak first quarter’s growth at 

+0.6% (annualised), to grow by no less than 3.9% in quarter 2 of 2015, but then pulled back to 

2.1% in quarter 3. The run of strong monthly increases in nonfarm payrolls figures for growth in 

employment in 2015 has prepared the way for the Fed. to embark on its long awaited first increase 

in rates of 0.25% at its December meeting.  However, the accompanying message with this first 

increase was that further increases will be at a much slower rate, and to a much lower ultimate 

ceiling, than in previous business cycles, mirroring comments by our own MPC.  

 

EZ. In the Eurozone, the ECB fired its big bazooka in January 2015 in unleashing a massive €1.1 

trillion programme of quantitative easing to buy up high credit quality government and other debt of 

selected EZ countries. This programme of €60bn of monthly purchases started in March 2015 and 

it is intended to run initially to September 2016.  This appears to have had a positive effect in 

helping a recovery in consumer and business confidence and a start to an improvement in 

economic growth.  GDP growth rose to 0.5% in quarter 1 2015 (1.0% y/y) but came in at +0.4% 

(+1.5% y/y) in quarter 2 and +0.3% in quarter 3.  However, this lacklustre progress in 2015 

together with the recent downbeat Chinese and emerging markets news, has prompted comments 

by the ECB that it stands ready to strengthen this programme of QE by extending its time frame 

Page 34



and / or increasing its size in order to get inflation up from the current level of around zero towards 

its target of 2% and to help boost the rate of growth in the EZ.   

 

Greece.  During July, Greece finally capitulated to EU demands to implement a major programme 
of austerity and is now cooperating fully with EU demands. An €86bn third bailout package has 
since been agreed though it did nothing to address the unsupportable size of total debt compared 
to GDP.  However, huge damage has been done to the Greek banking system and economy by 
the resistance of the Syriza Government, elected in January, to EU demands. The surprise 
general election in September gave the Syriza government a mandate to stay in power to 
implement austerity measures. However, there are major doubts as to whether the size of cuts and 
degree of reforms required can be fully implemented and so Greek exit from the euro may only 
have been delayed by this latest bailout. 
 
Portugal and Spain.  The general elections in September and December respectively have opened 
up new areas of political risk where the previous right wing reform-focused pro-austerity 
mainstream political parties have lost power.  A left wing / communist coalition has taken power in 
Portugal which is heading towards unravelling previous pro austerity reforms. This outcome could 
be replicated in Spain. This has created nervousness in bond and equity markets for these 
countries which has the potential to spill over and impact on the whole Eurozone project.  
 

 Investment returns are likely to remain relatively low during 2016/17 and beyond; 

 Borrowing interest rates have been highly volatile during 2015 as alternating bouts of 
good and bad news have promoted optimism, and then pessimism, in financial 
markets.  Gilt yields have continued to remain at historically phenominally low levels 
during 2015. The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash 
balances, has served well over the last few years.  However, this needs to be 
carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in later times, when 
authorities will not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance new capital expenditure 
and/or to refinance maturing debt; 

 There will remain a cost of carry to any new borrowing which causes an increase in 
investments as this will incur a revenue loss between borrowing costs and investment 
returns. 

  

Page 35



Appendix 5 

Creditworthiness policy  

1. This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Capita Asset 
Services.  This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit 
ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard 
and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the 
following overlays:  

 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries. 

 
2. This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit Watches and credit 

Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of 
Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads for which the end product is a series of colour 
coded bands, illustrated below which indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
counterparties.  The Chief Finance Officer applies and reviews suitable financial 
and durational limits to each of these bands. 

 

Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C 

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7 

up to 5yrs up to 5yrs up to 5yrs up to 2yrs up to 2yrs up to 1yr 
up to 
6mths 

up to 
100days no colour 

 
 
3. A specific creditworthiness colour band has been created for UK part-nationalised 

Banks which is based upon the implicit sovereign government guarantee in these 
institutions in place of their individual credit ratings. (This band is now effectively 
limited to the Royal Bank of Scotland Group.) 

 
4. The Capita creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just 

primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 
 

5. All credit ratings will be monitored on a weekly basis. The Council is alerted to 
changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Capita 
creditworthiness service and the CFO will vary the approved lending list as 
appropriate to these changes.  

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will 
be withdrawn immediately. 

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information 
in movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and 
other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in 
downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 

Page 36



6. The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA+ and also have banks 
operating in sterling markets. The list of countries that qualify using this credit 
criteria as at the date of this report (based on the lowest available rating) are shown 
below and this list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings 
change in accordance with this policy. 

AAA AA+ 

Australia Netherlands  

 Hong Kong 
Canada Singapore United Kingdom 

Denmark Sweden  

Finland Switzerland  

Germany USA  

 
6. Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition the 

CFO will also use market data and market information, information on government 
support for banks and the credit ratings of that government support. 
 

7. The Council uses an external fund manager to manage a proportion of the 
investment portfolio available to offset the borrowing requirement. The use of an 
external fund manager allows the Council to spread its treasury risk in relation to 
type of investment, investment counterparties and manager opinion. 
 

8. The external fund manager will comply with the Annual Investment Strategy.  The 
agreement between the Council and the fund manager additionally stipulates 
guidelines and duration and other limits in order to contain and control risk. 
  

9. The fund manager mandate allows for additional amounts to be placed and the 
CFO will exercise this option if this is deemed to be in the best interests of the 
Council up to a limit of 50% of the total portfolio. As Council’s cash investment 
reduce it is likely the Fund Manager holding will be correspondingly decreased. The 
Council retains the right to withdraw all or part of the fund at seven days notice. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 37



Appendix 6 
 
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the specified 
investment criteria.   
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories. 
 
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are: 
 
 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:  
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, 
meeting the minimum ‘high’ rating criteria where applicable. 
 
 

 * Minimum ‘High’ Credit Criteria Use 

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility -- In-house 

Term deposits – local authorities   -- In-house 

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies  

Creditworthiness system 
colour band green 

In-house and Fund 
Manager 

UK  part nationalised banks 
Creditworthiness system 
colour band blue 

In-house and Fund 
Manager 

Banks part nationalised by high credit 
rated (sovereign rating) countries – non 
UK 

Sovereign rating AA+ 
In-house and Fund 
Manager 

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs): - 

    1. Government Liquidity Funds 
*  MMF rating AAA 
 

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

    2. Money Market Funds   
* MMF rating AAA 
        

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

    3. Enhanced Money Market Funds with 
a credit score of 1.25   

* MMF/bond fund rating  
In-house and Fund 
Managers 

4. Enhanced Money Market Funds with 
a credit score of 1.5   

* MMF/bond fund rating AAA 
In-house and Fund 
Managers 

    5. Bond Funds    
* bond fund rating  AAA 
    

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

    6. Gilt Funds 
* bond fund rating AAA 
       

In-house and Fund 
Managers 

 
 

 
 
 

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the 
Specified Investment criteria.   
A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the 
institution, and depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above 
categories.  
 
The maturity limits recomended will not be exceeded. Under the delegated powers the 
Chief Finance Officer can set limits that are lower based on the latest economic conditions 
and credit ratings.  
 
 

Page 38



Investment Type 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 

Max 
investment 
or % of total 
investments  

Max. 
maturity 
period * 

UK nationalised/part-
nationalised banks 
(maturities over one year) 

Sovereign rating 
AA+ 

In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

50%  2 years 

Term deposits (over one 
year) – local authorities 
and other public sector 
bodies 

-- In-house 50% 5 years 

Term deposits (over one 
year) – banks and building 
societies 

Creditworthiness 
system  colour 
band “Purple” 

In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

75% 2 years 

Collateralised deposit See note 1 In-house  20% 5 years 

Certificates of deposits  
issued by banks and 
building societies 
(maturities under one 
year) 

Creditworthiness 
system colour band 
“Green” 

In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

50% 1 year 

Certificates of deposits  
issued by banks and 
building societies 
(maturities over one year) 

Creditworthiness 
system colour band 
“Purple” 

In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

50% 1 year 

UK Government 
Gilts/Treasury Bills 

Sovereign rating 
AA+ 

In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

100% 5 years 

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks 

AA+ 
In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

50% 5 years 

Sovereign bond issues 
(other than the UK govt) 

Sovereign rating 
AA+ 

In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

50% 5 years 

Structured Deposits 

Creditworthiness 
system colour band 
“Orange” <1 year 
“Purple” >1 year 

In-House 25% 2 years 

Commercial paper 
issuance by UK banks 
covered by UK 
Government guarantee 

Sovereign rating 
AA+ 

Fund 
Manager 

35% 5 years 

Commercial paper other 
Creditworthiness 
system colour band 
“Red” 

Fund 
Manager 

35% 5 years 

Floating Rate Notes Long-term AA 
In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

35% 5 years 

Property Fund: the use of 

these investments would 
normally constitute capital 
expenditure 

-- 
In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

£10million 5 years 

Page 39



Investment Type 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 

Max 
investment 
or % of total 
investments  

Max. 
maturity 
period * 

Property Fund: not classified 

as capital expenditure 
-- In-house £10million 5 years 

Collective Investment Schemes 
structured as Open Ended 
Investment Companies 
(OEICs):- 

1.Bond Funds 
2.Gilt Funds 

AAA 
Fund 
Manager 

35% 5 years 

Corporate Bonds AA 
In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

35% 5 years 

Other debt issuance by 
UK Banks covered by UK 
Government guarantee 

Sovereign rating 
AA+ 

In-house 
and Fund 
Manager 

35% 5 years 

Peer to Peer Lending 
Funding Circle 
rating B or 
equivalent 

In-House £200,000 5 years 

 
 

 
*Of which in any class of investment: 

 10% maximum 3 years (or over) 
 25% maximum 2 to 3 years 

 
Notes 

1. As collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local authority LOBOs, this 

investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated investment as it is equivalent to 
lending to a local authority. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 40



Appendix 7 
 
Review of Peer to Peer Lending (as at 23rd December 2015) 
 
At its meeting on 22nd October 2015 Council approved: 
 
“that the Annual Investment Strategy be varied to allow diversification of the investment 
portfolio into higher risk investments, initially on an experimental basis, and approve 
investment in one or both of the following instruments: 

 peer to peer lending – with overall investment of £100,000; maximum individual 
loan amount of £1,000; maximum loan term of five years; and limited to credit 
ratings ‘A+’, ‘A’ and ‘B’; and 

 The Local Authorities Property Fund.” 

In response Officers have registered the Council with Funding Circle, one of the leading 
peer to peer providers and to date have applied an investment sum of £60,000 (in 
tranches of £10,000) 
 
Of this sum: 

 £59k has been applied to active loans spread over 105 businesses 

 £1k is currently bid on 2 loans yet to be applied.   
 
The Council’s contributions represent a small element of each overall loan. Loan amounts 
generally range from £200 to £1000 maximum. This maximum has only been applied to 
secured loans such as property related loans where investors have a first charge over the 
assets. The proportion of secure/unsecured loans is: 
 

Secured Loans 37% 
Unsecured loans 63% 

 
The maximum exposure to any one business is 1.7% of the overall investment. 
 
The proportion of loans by risk rating is: 

A+  75% 
A 16%   
B   9%          

  
The proportion of loans by duration rating is: 
  Up to 1 year  19% 
  1 to 2 years  25% 
  2 to 3 years  13% 
  Over 5 years  43% 
 
The gross return on active loans stands at 8.9% 
The expected net yield, after charges and assumed bad debt, is 6.8% 
 
Earnings to date are: 
          £ 
  Interest  215.66 
  Promotions  245.20 
  Less: charges (25.82) 
  Net income  435.04 

Page 41



 
There have been no defaults on any Council backed loan so far. 
 
Loan repayments are received on the month anniversary of each loan part consisting of 
principal and interest (interest only on property related loans), net of a fee of 1%.  
 
Reliance is placed on the Funding Circle’s evaluation of Business’s and its risk ratings for 
loan selection. Officers have viewed individual loan requests during this experimental 
period but separate assessment will not be practical given the high volume of loan bids 
and available resources. 
 
While loan selection will therefore be “one-click” process, the CFO has ruled that the use 
of the automated bidding system is not appropriate for Council funds and Officers will 
continue to “have sight” of each loan by manual selection. 
 
 

Page 42



Internal Audit 
 
Half Year Report 2015/16 
 
Torbay Council 
Audit Committee 
 
November 2015 

 
Not Protectively Marked 

 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 6



Contents 

 

 

INTRODUCTION ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 1 

ASSURANCE STATEMENT __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 2 

PROGRESS AGAINST PLAN _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 3 

PROGRESS IMPACT ASSESSMENT __________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 4 

ADULT SERVICES _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 5 

VALUE ADDED ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 6 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - AUDIT FINDINGS _____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 7 
CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 7 
COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICES _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 8 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND INNOVATION_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 9 
PUBLIC HEALTH __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 10 
ADULT SERVICES _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 11 
SCHOOLS _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 12 

FRAUD PREVENTION AND DETECTION ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 13 

CUSTOMER VALUE _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 14 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - RESOURCES ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 14 
CUSTOMER SERVICE EXCELLENCE (CSE) ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 14 
WHAT OUR CUSTOMERS SAID ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 14 
ADDED VALUE _____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 14 

APPENDIX 1 – SUMMARY OF AUDIT REPORTS AND FINDINGS FOR 2015/16 _______________________________________________________________________ 15 

APPENDIX 2 – PERFORMANCE INDICATORS _________________________________________________________________________________________________ 34 

APPENDIX 3 - CUSTOMER SERVICE EXCELLENCE ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 35 

APPENDIX 4 – DEFINITIONS ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 36 

Devon Audit Partnership Confidentiality and Disclosure Clause 

The Devon Audit Partnership has been formed under a joint committee arrangement comprising of 
Plymouth, Torbay and Devon councils.  We aim to be recognised as a high quality internal audit service 
in the public sector.  We work with our partners by providing a professional internal audit service that 
will assist them in meeting their challenges, managing their risks and achieving their goals.  In carrying 
out our work we are required to comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards along with other 
best practice and professional standards. 

The Partnership is committed to providing high quality, professional customer services to all; if you 
have any comments or suggestions on our service, processes or standards, the Head of Partnership 
would be pleased to receive them at robert.hutchins@devonaudit.gov.uk . 

This report is protectively marked in accordance with the government 
security classifications. It is accepted that issues raised may well need 
to be discussed with other officers within the Council, the report itself 
should only be copied/circulated/disclosed to anyone outside of the 
organisation in line with the organisation’s disclosure policies.  

This report is prepared for the organisation’s use.  We can take no 
responsibility to any third party for any reliance they might place upon. 

P
age 44

mailto:robert.hutchins@devonaudit.gov.uk


 

1 
 

Introduction 
The Audit Committee, under its Terms of Reference contained in Torbay Council’s Constitution, is required to consider the Chief Internal Auditor’s audit 
reports, to monitor and review the internal audit programme and findings, and to monitor the progress and performance of Internal Audit. 

The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2006 introduced the requirement that all Authorities need to carry out an annual review of the 
effectiveness of their internal audit system, and need to incorporate the results of that review into their Annual Governance Statement (AGS), published with 
the annual Statement of Accounts. 

The Internal Audit plan for 2015/16 was presented to and approved by the Audit Committee in March 2015. The following report and appendices set out the 
current position of the audit service provision; reviews work undertaken to date in 2015/16 and provides an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Authority’s internal control environment. 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Head of Internal Audit to provide a report providing an opinion that can be used by the organisation to 
inform its governance statement. This report provides a position statement at half year on the progress towards that opinion. 

 

Expectations of the Audit Committee from this half year report 

Audit Committee members are requested to consider the; 

 assurance statement within this report; 

 completion of audit work against the plan; 

 scope and ability of audit to complete the audit work; 

 progress impact against strategic aims; 

 audit coverage and findings provided; 

 overall performance and customer satisfaction on audit delivery. 

In review of the above the Audit Committee are required to consider the assurance provided alongside that of the Executive, Corporate Risk Management and 
external assurance including that of the External Auditor as part of the Governance Framework and satisfy themselves from this assurance that the internal 
control framework continues to be maintained. 

 
Robert Hutchins 
Head of Audit Partnership 

 

P
age 45



 

2 
 

Overall, based on work performed during 2015/16 and our 
experience from the current year progress and previous years 
audit, the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion is of “Significant 
Assurance” on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Authority’s internal control framework. 

Assurance Statement 
This assurance statement is in line with the definitions below and will provide Members with an 
indication of the direction of travel for their consideration for the Annual Governance Statement. 

The Authority’s internal audit plan for the current year includes specific assurance, risk, 
governance and value added reviews which, together with prior years audit work, provide 
a framework and background within which we are able to assess the Authority’s control 
environment. These reviews have informed the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion on the 
internal control framework. 

Directors have been provided with details of Internal Audit’s opinion on each audit review 
carried out in 2015/16.  If significant weaknesses have been identified in specific areas, 
these will need to be considered by the Authority in preparing its Annual Governance 
Statement later in the year when preparing the Statement of Accounts for 2015/16.   

In carrying out systems and other reviews, Internal Audit assesses whether key, and 
other, controls are operating satisfactorily within the area under review, and an opinion on 
the adequacy of controls is provided to management as part of the audit report.  All final 
audit reports include an action plan which identifies responsible officers, and target dates, 
to address control issues identified during a review. Implementation of action plans rests 
with management and are reviewed during subsequent audits or as part of a specific 
follow-up process.  

Generally, our work has not been adversely affected by planned changes during the first 
six months. There have been no significant changes made to plans to date, although 
minor alterations have been made to the Children’s Services and Innovation plan and the 
Adult Services plan. 

The 2015/16 level of irregularity work to date is within anticipated levels and has not 
adversely impacted delivery of the plan. Some of our planned assurance work is 
necessarily scheduled for completion in the second half of the year and other work 
involves ongoing project support, however, we feel, based on the work completed and on 
previous year’s work that the framework of control remains in operation. 

Full 
Assurance 

Risk management arrangements are properly established, 
effective and fully embedded, aligned to the risk appetite of the 
organisation. The systems and control framework mitigate 
exposure to risks identified & are being consistently applied in 
the areas reviewed. 

Significant 
Assurance 

Risk management and the system of internal control are 
generally sound and designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives. However, some weaknesses in design and / or 
inconsistent application of controls do not mitigate all risks 
identified, putting the achievement of particular objectives at risk. 

Limited 
Assurance 

Inadequate risk management arrangements and weaknesses in 
design, and / or inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of the organisation’s objectives at risk in a number 
of areas reviewed. 

No 
Assurance 

Risks are not mitigated and weaknesses in control, and /or 
consistent non-compliance with controls could result / has 
resulted in failure to achieve the organisation’s objectives in the 
areas reviewed, to the extent that the resources of the Council 
may be at risk, and the ability to deliver the services may be 
adversely affected. 

This statement of opinion is underpinned by our 
consideration of : 
 

Internal 
Control 

Framework 

Governance 

Risk 
Management 

Assurance 
Economy, 

Efficiency & 
Effectiveness 

Prior years 
audit opinion 

P
age 46



 

3 
 

Progress Against Plan 
 
This report compares the work carried out with the work that was planned 
through risk assessment, presents a summary of the audit work 
undertaken, includes an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control environment and summarises the performance 
of the Internal Audit function against its performance measures and other 
criteria. The report outlines the level of assurance that we are able to 
provide, based on the internal audit work completed during the year. It 
gives: 

 a comparison of internal audit activity during the year with that 
planned, placed in the context of internal audit need; 

 a summary of significant fraud and irregularity investigations 
carried out during the year and anti-fraud arrangements; and 

 a statement on the effectiveness of the system of internal control in 
meeting the Council’s objectives. 

The extent to which our work has been affected by changes to audit plans 
has not been notable during the first six months of the year.  Some of our 
work supports projects and hence completion will be in accordance with 
project timescales. The level of irregularity work has been in line with 
anticipated levels and the need for investigation work has not had an 
adverse impact on the overall completion of the plan.  

The bar charts right show the status of audit progress against plan and 
audit the days delivered against target planned.  The charts demonstrate 
that progress is largely in line with expectations and that the number of 
audit days delivered is approximately as that planned.     

 
Appendix 2 provides further performance information for the first six 
months of 2015/16. 
 
 
 

135 

41 

38 

46 

50 

94 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 

Audits Planned 

Not started 

Finalised 

Draft 

Completed 

Audit Started 

Audit Progress Against Plan 2015-16 

0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

1000 

1200 

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

D
ay

s 

Audit Plan Days 

Planned 

Actual 

P
age 47



  

4 
 

Progress Impact Assessment 
Our audits completed to date this year, in the majority of areas, provide 
assurance that identified risks are being minimised or mitigated where 
appropriate.  Progress impact assessments are detailed below by service 
area highlighting developmental areas. The overall audit assurance will 
have to be considered in light of these positions.  

Our audit plan spreads work across the financial year periods, and as a 
consequence assurance progress on a number of reviews/ risks remains 
incomplete or outstanding. The effectiveness of these areas may impact on 
the success of the organisation’s wider strategic risks.   

For example, continued delivery of services against a backdrop of 
budgetary and resource constraints require sound material systems 
controls, robust project management and project benefits realisation, 
established contract and partnership management, contract and supplier 
monitoring frameworks, effective management of relationships with linked 
organisations and service users, a resilient and effective ICT infrastructure, 
effective demand management, innovative delivery development, and 
effective delivery of grant funded scheme. 

 

Corporate and Business Services 
 

 Material Systems work for the year is predominantly scheduled for the 
second half of the year, however finalisation of 2014/15 audits carried 
over into the current year providing a degree of rolling assurance; 

 Similarly the follow up of the 2014/15 audits this summer provided 
assurance regarding the direction of travel in mitigation of risks and 
progress in areas previously reviewed; 

 Continued support and related advice for the Self Service, Cheque 
Printing, Fair Decision Making, Risk Management integration and the 
new Business Improvement District projects provides some assurance 
regarding project management and progress, and associated impacts 
on risks; 

 The cyclical basis of the Tor Bay Harbour Authority Audit Plan and 
reporting of outcomes to the Harbour Committee provides assurance 
that risks are subject to regular review and that progress in improving 
the control framework is being formally monitored. 

 TOR2 Commissioning / Contract Monitoring, and robust arrangements 
to achieve service delivery within contract fees remain to be examined;  

 Procurement / Contracts, and compliance with new requirements and 
effective monitoring arrangements have not yet been assessed; 

 Operational Arrangements and the Ethics and Culture of the Council 
since the reorganisation, and the adequacy and fitness of purpose have 
not yet been reviewed to allow time for arrangements to be developed 
and become embedded. 

 

The level of grant certification work required has increased and Internal 
Audit have met the condition deadlines; should this trend continue there will 
be a need to increase the time allowed for this work in future year plans. 

Community and Customer Services 

 ICT audits, all remaining ICT audits collectively integrate in ensuring a 
robust ICT infrastructure although previous audit work in these areas 
and ongoing related client liaison has ensured management awareness 
of audit concerns regarding existing arrangements; 

 the Council’s opportunity to meet organisational change is reliant on 
effectively linking and embedding ICT development with risk 
management and business continuity; issues we have previously 
highlighted in these areas remain and reduce the opportunity for 
achieving the objectives of some change directions. 

 Torbay Coast and Countryside Trust, and working arrangements in 
relation to service delivery in accord with the Council’s objectives and 
maintenance of elements of the natural space and Geopark on behalf 
of the Council; 

 Housing Options, and effective arrangements to reduce homelessness 
and to protect the vulnerable; 

 Sports Facilities, and promoting healthy lifestyles and maximising the 
use of facilities and the natural space; 

 The majority of the material systems work is within Corporate and 
Business Services, however Revenues and Benefits work 
encompasses the material system audit reviews of certain functions; 
this work is predominantly scheduled for the second half of the year; 

 Similarly the follow up of the 2014/15 audits this summer provided 
assurance regarding the direction of travel in mitigation of risks and 
progress in areas previously reviewed. 

P
age 48



  

5 
 

Children’s Services and Innovation 

 The follow up of the 2014/15 audits this summer provided 
assurance regarding the direction of travel in mitigation of risks and 
progress in areas previously reviewed; 

 Our ongoing work in certification of Children’s Services and 
Innovation grants, particularly in relation to the Troubled Families 
Programme, provides assurance in terms of conditions associated 
with funding being met;  

 Transition from Children’s to Adults, and the maintenance of care to 
protect the vulnerable is currently being reviewed; 

 Fostering, and the achievement of ‘value for money’ following 
changes to payment arrangements is still being examined; 

 Virtual School, and the achievement of education virtually for 
children unable to attend school has not yet been examined; 

 Integrated Youth Service, and the effectiveness of new 
arrangements to protect vulnerable young adults and assist in 
achievement of their goals has not yet been reviewed to allow time 
for arrangements to be developed and become embedded. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Health 

 Lifestyle Services, and public health priorities in Torbay require 
sound consultation to determine service requirements and service 
change opportunities; 

 Public Health / NHS Links, and working arrangements to achieve 
public health objectives require effective and monitored practices to 
ensure attainment of service priorities. 

Adult Services 

Our audit completed this year provides assurance that identified risks are 
being minimised or mitigated where appropriate.  The limited plan of work 
within Adult Services for 2015/16 and in previous years, and the position 
that various functions are provided and audited by the National Health 
Service (NHS) Trust Provider means that we cannot quantify the impact of 
audit progress on risks within the whole service area. 

The Adults Social Care Commissioning Team encompasses 
Commissioning, Performance Management, Community Engagement, 
Healthwatch, Housing Strategy, Prevention and NHS Advisory Service, 
with services provided by the NHS Trust Provider.   

The agreed audit plan will consider the following issues in the second half 
of the year: 

 NRS Joint Equipment Store, and the achievement of ‘value for 
money’ in relation to contract monitoring and the security of assets 
is yet to be considered; 

 Care Act Implementation and Better Care Fund, and liaison with 
colleagues at Audit South West regarding effective use of funding. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 49



  

6 
 

Value Added 
Our internal audit activity has added value to the organisation and its 
stakeholders by: 

 providing objective and relevant assurance; 

 contributing to the effectiveness and efficiency of the governance, 
risk management and internal control processes. 

Senior Management has found our engagement, support as a “trusted 
advisor” effective and constructive in these significantly changing times. 

Our work has identified specific added value benefits in key areas and in 
mitigating key risks. Notable benefits have been reported in the following 
areas: 

Corporate and Business Services 
 ongoing involvement in Self Service  project ensuring that control 

issues are highlighted and resolved before implementation; 

 continuing our involvement in the integration of the risk management 
methodology; 

 using knowledge from previous audit work to assist the Council with 
the new Business Improvement District; 

 advice to the Cheque Printing project to assist them in the removal 
of payment by cheque to achieve associated cost savings; 

 new involvement in the project to develop the Fair Decision Making 
processes; 

 support to Procurement in relation to changes in regulations and 
resulting amendment to policy and practices; 

 identification of the need for grant certification for Autism Innovation 
and Community Capacity; 

 the development and annual review of the Tor Bay Harbour 
Authority Five Year Rolling Audit Plan and related assistance to the 
Executive Head in supporting the Harbour Committee. 
 

Adult Services 
 notification to the client of the requirement for certification of the 

Autism Innovation grant as a result of partnership working; 

 inclusion of the NRS Joint Equipment Store audit in the planned 
work post Audit Committee plan approval as a result of a flexible 
audit plan approach and effective client liaison. 

 the development of future years audit plans to cover new and 
emerging risk. 

Public Health 
 identifying improvement opportunity in relation to consultations 

linked to further Public Health commissioning reviews. 

Community and Customer Services 
 facilitation of ICT Continuity & Disaster Recovery integration into the 

Risk Management methodology; 

 ongoing involvement as an advisory member of the Information 
Security Group; 

 ongoing support to various ICT system developments, for example 
the harbour mooring system, corporate print project, cheque 
printing; 

 retrospective examination of practices during the close down period 
of Torre Abbey for Museum Services; 

 provision of risk assessments in relation to the consideration of 
reduction of Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) and changes to the 
building access control system; 

 support to Safer Communities providing advice and guidance in 
relation to ICT elements of the ‘Prevent’ guidance. 

Children’s Services and Innovation 
 assistance in maintaining the impetus in management action plans 

to address previously identified risks through an annual and robust 
follow up exercise; 

 provision of Children’s Services and Innovation financial and 
demand data to the Audit Committee; 

 the development of the current years and future years audit plans to 
incorporate flexibility to meet changing and developing business 
demands and to cover existing, and new or emerging risks.  

Schools 
 Our support has helped all schools comply with the schools financial 

value standard with all schools completing their self-assessment this 
year.

P
age 50



  

7 
 

Executive Summary - Audit findings  

Corporate and Business Services 
In our opinion, and based upon our audit work completed during 2015/16, ‘watching briefs’ and direct 
advice provided for on-going projects, we are able to report that internal controls continue to operate 
effectively and where recommendations for improvements have been made, action plans have been 
agreed with management.  

Significant concerns have been raised in relation to Section 106 arrangements; the risks identified 
related to a lack of an overarching monitoring process which is now being considered by the 
organisation. 

Based on audits completed and on indications from previous and on-going work, we are able to report 
that material systems controls have either been maintained, or improvements are being made to 
address previously identified weaknesses.  Whilst a number of weaknesses exist, management are 
aware of these issues, and have either accepted the related risk, or are taking action to address them. 

We have identified opportunities for improvements in terms of the continuing project to implement 
Payroll / Human Resources Self Service; there remain concerns in relation to project resources and 
timescales whilst maintaining project impetus and ‘business as usual’.  Other projects are in earlier 
stages and we will provide support in line with organisational need. 

Although improvements in policy and procedure for the employment of agency staff have been 
achieved, controls remain insufficient to ensure adherence to the new framework although this is now 
being addressed. 

Other than the areas detailed above, no significant concerns have been identified from the majority of 
our work including that on grants and management have responded positively to any 
recommendations for improvement.  The Appendix 1 details the assurance opinions for individual 
audits for which definitions of the assurance opinion ratings are given in Appendix 2. 

Key Risks / Issues 
An imminent change to the material systems control framework is the introduction of Payroll element 
of ‘self-service’; we will review and report on the impact of this change in line with project timescales. 

Contract and partnership management arrangements may be a risk to the ongoing provision of 
service by TOR2 following organisational changes. 

Changes to procurement regulations provide for potential improvements to the control framework but 
will require careful monitoring and management. 

There is a risk of legal challenge and potential loss of income arising from the lack of an overarching 
monitoring process for Section 106 agreements. 

There remains residual risk of unsafe or illegal hiring of agency staff although mitigating controls 
are being embedded. 

1 

20 

8 

Assurance Opinions 
Operations and Finance 

2014/15 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

1 

14 

3 

1 

Assurance Opinions  
Apr - Sept 2015/16 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

It should be noted that the assurance opinion comparison charts above 
are reflective of the previous and current organisational structure and 
should therefore be considered as indicative only.  

P
age 51



  

8 
 

Community and Customer Services 
In our opinion, and based upon our audit work completed during 2015/16, ‘watching briefs’ and direct advice provided for on-going projects, we are able to 
report that internal controls continue to operate effectively and where recommendations for improvements have been made, action plans have been agreed 
with management. 

The majority of the material systems work is within Corporate and Business Services, however material system controls relevant to Community and Customer 
Services have either been maintained or improvements are being made to address previous identified weaknesses.   

We have identified opportunities for improvements in the control and governance framework for the Museum Services and Corporate Security & CCTV.  The 
latter is currently subject to full service review and our findings will inform this project. 

We continue to provide support for ICT projects and we have maintained our ongoing involvement with the Information Security Group to assist the 
organisations with emerging issues affecting both information governance and ICT controls.  ICT Change control arrangements require formalising and 
recording.  In addition, we have previously identified the links between ICT Continuity & Disaster Recovery, the Risk Management methodology and Business 
Continuity Planning, and the need to fully integrate these areas in order to provide a robust and holistic approach to ensure business continuity and the 
achievement of organisational objectives.  We are continuing to support the development of new practices and arrangements for an integrated approach. 

No other significant concerns have been identified from our work and management have responded positively to any recommendations for improvement.  The 
Appendix 1 details the assurance opinions for individual audits for which the definitions of the assurance opinion ratings are given in Appendix 2. 

Key Risks / Issues 

The potential loss of CCTV and changes within the security provision to the Council presents numerous risks which are being examined through a dedicated 
project. 

The ICT Infrastructure faces significant challenges in terms of budget reduction impacts with ICT Change Control Management being key to minimising the risk 
of ICT change having an adverse impact on other areas of the Council.   

The lack of integration of ICT Continuity & Disaster Recovery into Risk Management remains but is being progressed through a working party.  

The change of structure in relation to information governance and information compliance presents a potential risk of non-compliance during the bedding in 
period. 

1 

4 

3 

1 

Assurance Opinions Place 2014/15   

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

0 

2 

4 

0 

Assurance Opinions Apr - Sept 
2015/16 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

It should be 
noted that the 
assurance 
opinion 
comparison 
charts are 
reflective of the 
previous and 
current 
organisational 
structure and 
should 
therefore be 
considered as 
indicative only.  

P
age 52



  

9 
 

Children’s Services and Innovation 
We are unable to provide an opinion at this time due to the majority of work in Children’s 
Services in the last two years being deferred until future years.  We can, however, comment 
that based upon our audit work completed during 2015/16 and based on earlier year’s work 
that the framework of control remains in operation, and where recommendations have been 
made, action plans have been agreed with management. 

The Children’s Services directorate incorporates both the Safeguarding & Wellbeing 
functions and those for Schools. 

Our work has involved examination of Admissions in Place Planning and Pupil Referral 
Panel and certification of grant in relation to Early Years.  As detailed in Appendix 1, we 
were able to provide an overall audit opinion of ‘High Standard’ in relation to these functions 
and the grant was certified without any issues being identified.  Our work in relation to 
Schools Places Planning reported in the Corporate and Business Services report is still 
currently in progress.  

The overall assurance from schools audit is of good standard. The risk and control 
framework is of a good standard although there is some non-compliance or poor practice in 
a small number of schools on governance and use of resources to achieve school 
improvement. Detailed assurance is provided under a separate report, and also summarised 
in Appendix 1 to this report. 

No significant concerns have been identified from our work including that on grants and 
management have responded positively to any recommendations for improvement.  The 
Appendix 1 details the assurance opinions for individual audits for which definitions of the 
assurance opinion ratings are given in Appendix 2. 

Key Risks / Issues 
Risks inevitably exist in the delivery of a service area such as Children’s Services and 
Innovation, and issues have previously been reported in relation to contract management, 
performance monitoring and the formalisation of plans and strategy linked to changed 
practice and budget. 

Children’s safeguarding is an identified risk within the organisation’s risk management 
framework; the risk management methodology is currently being integrated into operational 
practices and business continuity arrangements of the Council. 

The delivery of the financial recovery plan for Children’s Services and Innovation remains a 
risk; we have been commissioned by the Audit Committee to provide data comparing 
demand and spend to facilitate their review and challenge of the plan. 

Achieving financial savings required at this time of austerity whilst maintaining ‘business as 
usual’ and the care, education and safeguarding of children presents a risk to the Council. 

       

1 

1 

1 

0 

Assurance Opinions 2014/15 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

1 

0 0 
0 

Assurance Opinions Apr - Sept 
2015/16 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

P
age 53



  

10 
 

Public Health 

In our opinion, and based upon our audit work completed during 2015/16, ‘audit partner support’ and as trusted advisor for on-going projects, we are able to 
report that internal controls continue to operate effectively and where recommendations for improvements have been made, action plans have been agreed 
with management. 

Our work includes working with management to finalise the audit report and action plan for the Lifestyle Services review.  As detailed in Appendix 1, we are 
currently working with Public Health colleagues to agree the report in relation to this area and management have provided valuable feedback to our work which 
may result in changes to our initial draft report; the outcomes of this will be reported in our annual monitoring report. 

Management have responded positively to any recommendations for improvement in our previous work and are actively engaged in agreeing our current work. 
The Appendix 1 details the assurance opinions for individual audits for which the definitions of the assurance opinion ratings are given in Appendix 2. 

It should be noted that the assurance opinion comparison charts opposite are reflective of the previous and current organisational structure and should 
therefore be considered as indicative only. 

Key Risks / Issues 

Risks inevitably exist when delivering a service area such as Public Health, and issues have previously been reported in relation to workforce planning, 
information governance, emergency planning and preventative work. 

Consultation processes represent a risk to future service delivery if they are not sufficiently robust; we will be finalising our reporting to management in relation 
to any identified improvements areas in relation to Lifestyle Service Reviews Consultations. 

 

 

0 

2 2 

0 

Assurance Opinions 2014/15 
Public Health and Community Safety 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

0 0 0 0 

1 

Assurance Opinions Apr - Sept 
2015/16 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

Not Applicable 

It should be 
noted that the 
assurance 
opinion 
comparison 
charts are 
reflective of 
the previous 
and current 
organisational 
structure and 
should 
therefore be 
considered as 
indicative 
only.  

P
age 54



  

11 
 

Adult Services 
We are unable to provide an overall opinion at this time due to the limited work that we 
undertake within this directorate area.   

The Adult Services Directorate incorporates both the Joint Commissioning Team functions 
and those functions provided and audited by the NHS Trust Provider. 

Assurance over arrangements for adult social care is mainly provided by colleagues at Audit 
South West, the internal audit provider for Health services. Audit South West provides a 
separate letter of assurance to the Director of Adult Services and the Council's S151 Officer.  
Devon Audit Partnership provides support and internal audit input on key areas as agreed 
with the Director of Adult Services. We are working with Audit South West, and colleagues at 
the Trust, to ensure that the assurance requirements of the Council can be effectively met, 
which will involve the Council having greater input into the audit planning process for next 
year. 

Our work to date has involved certification of the Autism Innovation grant.  As detailed in 
Appendix 1, we were able to provide certification for this grant ensuring that the Council 
retained the grant funding to support the operation of this function. 

The limited planned audit work in Adult Services is scheduled for the second half of the year.  
During this time we will also work with management to prepare an audit plan for 2016/17 that 
addresses new and emerging risks. 

The Appendix 1 details the assurance opinions for individual audits for which definitions of 
the assurance opinion ratings are given in Appendix 2. 

 
 
Key Risks / Issues 

Risks inevitably exist in the delivery of a service area such as Adult Services, as a result of 
the vulnerability of the clients and where delivery of the service is commissioned to other 
service providers.   

Issues have previously been identified in relation to contract procurement arrangements and 
performance monitoring in a specific service area; we have worked with management to 
ensure robust management action plans are established to mitigate the associated risks. 

New legislation presents risks in relation to implementation; our work for 2015/16 covers the 
Care Act – Better Care Fund.

0 

1 

0 0 

Assurance Opinions 2014/15 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

0 

1 

0 
0 

Assurance Opinions Apr - Sept 
2015/16 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements 
Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

P
age 55



  

12 
 

Schools 
We have made good progress in the delivery of our audit plan to schools and schools have again been very appreciative of the quality of our service. The 
requirements to meet the challenges through change to the Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS) are significant. We are focusing all of our effort to 
achieve the targets and support schools to the fullest of our ability. 

Good Standard - our opinion is that the systems and controls in schools mitigate the risks identified in many areas. Although specific risks have been 
identified on the core element of the audit review at some schools, recommendations have been made to reduce risks and in other areas and are made to 
strengthen what are reliable procedures.  

Key Risks / Issues 

- understanding of financial management by governors as evidenced by the requirements of the Standard, skills assessment and absence of key business 
from meetings; 

- demonstrable benchmarking & financing of plans for raising standards and attainment; 
- business continuity planning; 
- inventories and asset management. 

Recommendations have been made to reduce risks and in other areas, recommendations made serve to strengthen what are reasonably reliable procedures.  

 

  

 
 

1 
1 

0 0 

Assurance Opinions Apr - Sept 
2015/16 

High Standard 

Good Standard 

Improvements Required 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

P
age 56



  

13 
 

Fraud Prevention and Detection  
 

Fraud Prevention and Detection and the National Fraud Initiative  

Counter-fraud arrangements are a high priority for the Council and assist in the protection of public funds and accountability. 
 

The Cabinet Office has taken over from the Audit Commission in running a major national data matching exercise (National Fraud Initiative – NFI) every two 
years.  Data for the 2014/15 NFI exercise was provided, and the subsequent matching reports were disseminated in January 2015. Devon Audit Partnership 
(DAP) advised all relevant managers, and assisted departments in undertaking reviews of matches as appropriate throughout 2015; such data sets included 
payroll, creditors, insurance, concessionary travel passes, blue badges and housing benefits.  Additionally, early liaison with relevant departments to facilitate 
the upload of 2015/16 data for Council Tax Single Person Discount and Rising 18’s data matching reports, an exercise now required annually. 
 

Linked to the TEICCAF (The European Institute for Combating Corruption and Fraud - was Audit Commission), and CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy) requirements, DAP continue to undertake annual ‘Protecting the Public Purse’, Fraud and Corruption surveys, which feeds into a 
national overview of fraud within public bodies. 
 

Proactive anti-fraud work has been undertaken during the first six months of 2015/16. A Fraud bulletin has been produced and published on DAP’s website. 
Our previous review of staff internet use identified a level of concern from which management took action on our findings. DAP has continued to undertake a 
six monthly monitoring of staff internet use and to date found no significant concerns. This provides assurance that action has been effective and such use 
remains within policy.   
 

Irregularities - In the first six months of 2015/16, Internal Audit has carried out or assisted in 10 investigations across the various services, excluding Public 
Health and Adult Services, where Internal Audit were not made aware of any issues of irregularity that required investigation.  Analysis of the types of 
investigation and the number undertaken shows the following:- 

 
 

Issue Number 

Employee Conduct 4 

IT-misuse 2 

Poor Procedures 2 

Tenders and Contracts  1 

Financial Irregularities 1 
 

 
DAP have completed investigations into potential IT mis-use with evidence of inappropriate activity provided to management.  These involved personal use of 
email and internet.   
 

Assistance has been given with the investigation of a number of whistle-blower allegations relating to employee conduct, poor procedures and correct 
classification of cases, and the outcomes provided to Human Resources and the Financial, Ethical and Probity Group for action. An allegation regarding a 
safeguarding issue was also examined but no evidence as part of their Council employment was found.  Additionally, we examined the potential inappropriate 
personal use of a business vehicle and provided our findings to Human Resources. 
 

P
age 57



  

14 
 

Customer Value 

Performance Indicators - Resources 
Overall, performance against the indicators has been very good (see appendix 2). We are aware that some of our draft and final reports were not issued to the 
customer within the agreed timeframes (15 working days for draft report and 10 working days for final report). We have identified areas where performance has 
been poor, and are working with our staff to ensure improvement is achieved. 

Customer Service Excellence (CSE) 
DAP continues to be maintain accreditation by G4S Assessment Services of the CSE standard. 
We highly value customer comments on our service and how we can improve our work. 

During the period we issued client survey forms with our final reports. The results of the surveys 
returned are very positive. The overall result is very pleasing, with near 99% being "satisfied” or 
better across our services, see appendix 3. It is very pleasing to report that our clients continue to 
rate the overall usefulness of the audit and the helpfulness of our auditors highly. 

What Our Customers Said 
We have had some very complimentary feedback in the last six months. More details can be 
found on our website www.devonaudit.gov.uk but some of the more relevant comments include:- 

 ‘Auditor showed flexibility and willingness to be responsive in drawing up the terms of 
reference to ensure that appropriate areas were covered for audit to be of maximum value’; 

 ‘Very professional service delivery, I felt fully informed at all times and colleagues within the 
team were happy with interactions with auditors’; 

 ‘It’s nice to have some positive feedback and for the hard work and commitment of staff in the 
team to be recognised. It’s also good to have objective feedback so that we can be sure we 
are providing a good service to parents, children and young people in Torbay’. 

 

Added Value 
We aim to provide a cost effective, efficient and professional internal audit service that takes the opportunity to add value whenever possible. Some of the 
specific examples of where our team have been able to add value to the Council in the first six months of 2015/16 include:- 

“extended the audit brief to include our requirements which supported the service in knowing how embedded practices are.” 

“may I express my appreciation to you for your excellent professional contribution to the recent very successful special schools conference” 

“actions provided are achievable and will enhance the service.”. 

We continue to develop and train our staff so that they can add value to the organisation as it faces the difficult challenges ahead. 

P
age 58

http://www.devonaudit.gov.uk/


  

15 
 

Appendix 1 – Summary of audit reports and findings for 2015/16 
Risk Assessment Key Assurance Progress Key 
LARR – Local Authority Risk Register score Impact x Likelihood = Total &  Level 
ANA - Audit Needs Assessment risk level as agreed with Client Senior Management 
Client Request – additional audit at request of Client Senior Management; no risk 
assessment information available 

Green – action plan agreed with client for delivery over an appropriate timescale; 
Amber – agreement of action plan delayed or we are aware progress is hindered; 
Red – action plan not agreed or we are aware progress on key risks is not being made. 
* report recently issued, assurance progress is of managers feedback at debrief meeting. 

 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Material Systems (includes all material systems for reporting completeness purposes, however direct responsibility for certain areas is within Community and Customer Services) 

Income Collection ANA - Medium Final Good Standard Assurance was reported in last year’s annual report; please refer to 
that report for details.  
 

 

Crisis Support Follow-up ANA – Low Final Good Standard Assurance was reported in last year’s annual report; please refer to 
that report for details.  
 

 

Creditors ANA – High Final Improvements 
Required 

Assurance was reported in last year’s annual report; please refer to 
that report for details.   
 

 

Purchase Order 
Processing (POP) 

ANA – Medium Final Good Standard The ordering functionality within POP is effective and provides the 
majority of the expected controls of an electronic ordering system 
including robust authorisation controls.  It provides for accurate 
recording of all the key information and the automated transfer and 
reversal of commitment data to the general ledger. 

Weaknesses continue to exist in the goods receipting functionality, 
however steps have been taken and continue to be developed to 
establish mitigating processes, and the residual associated risks 
continue to be accepted by management. 

A number of previous recommendations remain outstanding; 
however the majority of these should be resolved with the release 
of version e5.5 software in 2016. 

 

P
age 59



  

16 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Bank Reconciliation ANA – Medium Final Good Standard Sample testing of a number of bank reconciliations found that all 
have been accurately undertaken and had been independently 
reviewed, though clarity is required in term of completion 
deadlines, and interest should be promptly posted to the ledger at 
the end of the financial year. 

Although local payment schools are responsible for reconciling 
their own bank accounts to the schools’ financial system, SIMS, a 
review of the reconciliation between SIMS and FIMS found that this 
had been effectively performed in a timely manner. 

We have no concerns in relation to user access management of 
the online banking system (Bankline), and all users reviewed were 
found to have appropriate access levels.  

Risks remain in relation to the lack of segregation of duties within 
the FIMS Sys Admin team, but these have previously been 
acknowledged, and accepted by management as unavoidable, due 
to the operational need and small size of the team. 
 

 

Main Accounting System ANA - Medium Final Good Standard A well established and robust control framework for the 
maintenance of councils Financial Information Management 
System (FIMS) Main Accounting System ensures that budgetary 
and transactional data is effectively recorded.  This enables 
reporting of accurate financial information across service areas.   
 

The functionality within FIMS and the operation of manual controls 
provides further assurance of the integrity of the accounting data 
which is subsequently used to produce the Statement of Accounts 
and inform the Council's budgetary requirements.  This includes 
data transferred from the Authority's various feeder systems. 
 

Segregation of duty remains an issue which is accepted by 
management as a factor prevalent in small finance teams, and a 
number of other minor issues have been identified for 
improvement. 

 

P
age 60



  

17 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Treasury Management ANA - Low Final High Standard A comprehensive Treasury Management (TM) Strategy is in place 
and complies with the current CIPFA Code of Practice. The TM 
team continues to have a strong working relationship with its 
chosen advisor, Capita Asset Services, and many good practices 
have evolved as a result of this association. 
 

As in previous years, high operational standards continue to be 
maintained, with only minor issues being identified.   
 

Recommendations have been made to further strengthen existing 
controls, including, ensuring that all relevant documentation is 
completed and retained, and that outstanding training is 
undertaken. 
 

 

Payroll (Northgate) ANA - Critical Final Good Standard We are pleased to report that this year's assurance opinion 
remains as 'Good Standard'. This is partly due to the smaller audit 
programme being undertaken, and hence fewer recommendations; 
but also due to continuing progress in addressing prior year issues.  

Issues that remain include the outstanding Business Continuity 
Plan, the efficiency of the current method for recovering salary 
overpayments, and the Authority's leavers' process as leavers 
themselves are not required to be involved in any stage of the 
process before being terminated in the system. 

As was the case last year, only a small number of issues were 
identified this year in terms of the accuracy of data entry, and the 
majority of system amendments tested were found to have been 
appropriately authorised.   
 

 

Asset Register ANA - Medium Final Good Standard Assurance was reported in last year’s annual report; please refer to 
that report for details.  
 

 

P
age 61



  

18 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Debtors ANA – Medium Final Good Standard The Debtors system continues to be well managed centrally and 
users are adequately supported by comprehensive procedures and 
training manuals.  Debtors processes are operating effectively 
within a sufficiently sound overall control environment with most 
processes working as expected and as required by the 
organisation. 

Certain elements of the debtor process cannot be controlled 
centrally or are not controlled through system settings / restrictions 
and therefore reliance is placed on users to comply with procedural 
expectations.  Limited central resources prevent the enforcement 
of compliance; hence the annual audit highlights incidents of non-
compliance. 

Management continue to accept the risks of not taking action to 
address control weaknesses and non-compliance issues identified, 
due to the presence of mitigating controls and for customer service 
/ business practicality reasons. 

The need for greater emphasis to be placed on debt recovery 
performance monitoring and reporting outcomes at senior 
management / member level in the current economic climate 
continues to be reported. 

 

Council Tax & Non 
Domestic Rates (NDR) 

ANA – medium Draft Improvements 
Required 

Overall there has been little progress in making the intended 
improvements to the control environment, and as a result 
recommendations have once again been made to properly embed 
and utilise the new processes, to complete on-going development 
of procedural documentation, and to make further enhancements 
to existing processes and controls.  

The review and confirmation of the ongoing appropriateness of bill 
reductions is not consistent or undertaken at a regular frequency, 
and changes to property valuation is not always timely, both 
resulting in a risk of unnecessary loss of income.  Performance 
targets do not sufficiently cover review of all discounts and 

 

P
age 62



  

19 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

exemptions, and generally performance targets are not being met. 

The team have continued to maintain accuracy and control over 
property valuations with amendments to billing adequately 
supported. 

Benefits ANA – Medium Draft Good Standard The benefits department is generally performing effectively.  A 
number of input / processing errors were identified, however 
although these were not deemed to be significant, or indicative of 
more serious underlying control weaknesses, there is a potential 
risk in relation to the accuracy of the Authority’s subsidy claim.   

A potential system issue in relation to the treatment of ‘unreported’ 
change notifications was also identified, and we have 
recommended that further investigation is undertaken to determine 
any resulting impact.   

Specific testing of overpayment recoveries or write-offs did not 
identify any issues.  

As was the case last year, the Quality Assurance process is 
generally robust; and benefit payments themselves are well 
controlled. 

Performance in terms of processing speed and accuracy is below 
target; however we understand this is due to a number of officers 
having been recently recruited, who are still in the process of being 
trained.   

 

Cheque Printing Project Client Request Ongoing N/A Support and advice is provided as required by the project.  A 
proposal has been put forward following a decision by the project 
group; this is currently awaiting a formal response, following which 
a secondary element to the project will be instigated to implement 
the agreed outcomes. 
 

N/A 

P
age 63



  

20 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Northgate Self Service ANA – Critical Ongoing N/A Support continues to be provided to the project in line with the 
agreed project plan.  The project framework is in place and 
operating reasonably effectively, however the project has been 
impacted by resource issues which continue to be managed.  
 

The supplier has been commissioned to undertake the ‘build’ of the 
system against agreed design documents.  As expected the 
formulation of the design documents is very resource intensive.  
However the content and delivery timescale of these build 
documents is critical in ensuring that the system build is as 
required and the project timescales are achieved. The timescales 
for the project are considered to be ‘tight’, however are still 
currently considered to be achievable by the project board and 
supporting project team. 
 

N/A 

The following audits are currently in progress: 

 POP (Electronic Ordering) (ANA – Medium) 

 FIMS System Admin (ANA – High) 

 Asset Register (ANA – Medium) 

 Treasury Management (ANA – Low) 
 

 IBS Open System Admin (ANA – High) 

 Capital Programme (ANA – Medium) 
 

 

It is anticipated that the reports will be issued & agreed in the third quarter of 
2015/16. No issues of major concern have been identified from our fieldwork to 
date. 

The following audits have not yet been started as they are not due to 
commence until the second half of the year: 

 Main Accounting System (ANA – Medium) 

 Creditors (ANA - High) 

 Debtors (ANA – High) 

 Bank Reconciliation (ANA – Medium) 
 

 Payroll (ANA – Critical) 

 Benefits (ANA – Medium) 

 Council Tax & NDR (ANA – Medium) 

 Income Collection (ANA – Medium) 

 Corporate Debt (ANA – Medium) 
 

Grants 

Early Years – 2 year old 
nursery education 
 

Client Request Completed Certified No issued identified 

 

P
age 64



  

21 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Highways Capital 
Funding x 3 
 

Client Request Completed Certified No issues identified 

 

Autism Innovation Client Request Completed Certified No issues identified 

 

Community Capacity Client Request Completed Certified No issues identified 

 

The following audit is currently in progress: 

 Troubled Families x4 (Client Request) 
 

It is anticipated that work on Troubled Families will be ongoing until the end of 2015/16.  No major concerns have been identified from our fieldwork to date. 

 

The following audit has not yet been started as it is not due to commence until the second half of the year: 

 Local Sustainable Transport Fund 

 

Other 

Section 106  ANA – Medium Final Fundamental 
Weaknesses 

Planning applications are subject to review and authorisation by the 
Development Management Committee. 

Section 106 payments are detailed in agreements drawn up by the 
Legal Team in liaison with the planning department; however the 
basis for the agreements is not consistently reviewed or evidenced 
within Planning resulting in risks of allegations against planning 
officers and legal challenge.  

The agreed payments as defined within the s106 agreements, are 
due once trigger points have been reached. Weaknesses have 
been identified in the lack of information flowing between 
departments to ultimately advise Finance to instigate billing, leading 
to a risk of income not being billed as required. This could result in 
contributions not being collected and a reduction in potential 
income to the Authority. In one instance identified during the audit a 

 

P
age 65



  

22 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

significant payment had not been collected. 

Contributions received are recorded in the Financial Management 
Systems under the relevant schemes however issues have been 
identified and reported relating to the expenditure of these 
contributions at Service Area level. There is currently no effective 
end to end process monitoring method in place to ensure spending 
of the contributions is in line with the s106 agreements. This leaves 
the Authority open to legal challenge and potentially financial loss 
were the contractor(s) to request repayment under the terms of the 
agreement. 

It is evident from the findings that an overarching monitoring 
process needs to be implemented to provide a more efficient and 
effective means for managing Section 106 payments as an end to 
end process. It is understood that there may be some scope to 
utilise an element of Section 106 / Community Infrastructure Levies 
(CIL) monies to fund such an implementation 

Tor Bay Harbour 
Authority – Risk 
Management 

ANA – Medium Final Good Standard Processes are established to identify and manage risks, and the 
Tor Bay Harbour Authority has been separately assessed as 
compliant with the Port Marine Safety Code.  A specific Tor Bay 
Harbour Authority Emergency Plan is established and has been 
subject to testing through desk top exercises and a multi-agency 
exercise. In terms of business continuity, a plan exists but was not 
current at the time of the audit. 
 

Recommendations have been made to ensure that risk areas 
identified in the emergency plan are risk assessed, to complete the 
standard operating procedures that support risk mitigation and to 
maintain the currency of risk assessments through ensuring that 
there are sufficient trained risk assessors, and that appropriate 
H&S training is completed by all staff in order to minimise the risk 
to personal and public health.  The need for consistent recording of 
incidents / accidents was also identified along with the need to test 
the business continuity arrangements. 

 

P
age 66



  

23 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Human Resources  
 

ANA - High Final Improvements 
Required 

Comprehensive published policies exist in relation to recruitment of 
staff and the hiring of agency workers.  These policies are 
supported by procedures, toolkits and forms, and the provision of 
recruitment training via i-learn and guidance from HR Advisors, in 
order that service areas are appropriately supported when 
recruiting and hiring staff. 

Contractual arrangements are in place with approved agencies to 
ensure appropriate procurement practices and pre-employment 
checking; a waiver facility allows deviation from this arrangement 
but is not adequately controlled to enforce the same checks 
applied to the approved agencies or require the same terms and 
conditions to reduce any liability by the Council. 

Recruitment training has now been established but completion of 
training is not enforced or monitored; understanding and 
awareness by responsible managers would increase the likelihood 
of consistent compliance with expectations. 

Since the last audit an improved control framework has been 
established, however it was found that controls are insufficient to 
ensure adherence to the policies and procedures in particular in 
relation to the hiring of agency staff.  Hence the risks of unsafe or 
illegal recruitment and hiring are not fully mitigated.   

Recommendations have been made to strengthen the control 
framework and reduce the risks through ensuring greater HR 
monitoring / involvement. 
 

 

Business Improvement 
Districts (BID) 
 

ANA – High Ongoing N/A Ongoing support and advice is being provided to the project to 
establish a new BID company and BID area.   We are using 
knowledge gained from our previous audit examination of the 
existing BID formations and their ongoing management of the 
arrangements between the BID companies and the Council. 
 

N/A 

P
age 67



  

24 
 

CORPORATE AND BUSINESS SERVICES   

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

TOR2 Commissioning / 
Contract Monitoring 
 

ANA – High Ongoing N/A We have previously provided support to the Future State Project, 
following its cessation we are now working with management to 
determine areas where we can provide support or added value in 
relation to TOR2 contract monitoring. 
 

N/A 

Procurement / Contracts ANA – Medium Ongoing N/A We have provided advice in relation to development of the new 
Procurement Strategy and the redrafting of Contract Standing 
Orders as a result of the Procurement Regulations 2015, and are 
now working with management to determine an audit approach to 
examine these changes in practice and build on previous work in 
relation to contracts compliance. 
 

N/A 

South Devon Link Road / 
Waste Public Finance 
Initiative (PFI) 
 

ANA – High Ongoing N/A Devon Audit Partnership has kept a watching brief of progress with 
the schemes. 
 

N/A 

Fair Decision Making Client Request Ongoing N/A Work has commenced in this area, however the client has 
requested that this be a project support approach as opposed to 
auditing the existing arrangements.   

The current project is to review the current operational practices in 
relation to the Fair Decision Making process, and our work will 
support and challenge this review process alongside considering 
the project management practices.  The timing of our involvement 
is dependent on the project timetable. 
 

N/A 

The following audit is currently in progress: 

 Torbay Development Agency - School Places Planning (ANA – High) 
 

It is anticipated that the report will be issued & agreed in the third quarter of 
2015/16. No issues of major concern have been identified from our fieldwork to 
date. 

The following audits have not yet been started as they are not due to 
commence until the second half of the year: 
- New Operational Arrangements (Client Request) 
- Elections (ANA – Medium) 

- Demand Management including Financial Planning (Strategic Risk) 
- Ethics and Culture (ANA – Medium) 
- Tor Bay Harbour Authority (ANA – Medium) 
 

 

P
age 68



  

25 
 

COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Community and Customer   

Corporate Security and 
CCTV  

ANA - Medium Draft Improvements 
Required 

The Corporate Security and CCTV services face significant challenges in 
terms of budget reduction impacts.  In addition, the existing building 
access security system is aged and no longer supported.  Projects have 
commenced to consider future service delivery and alternative means of 
investment in light of these austerity measures and the need to replace 
the building access security system. 
 

Although the Council has no legal obligation to provide a CCTV service, 
the full or partial loss of it would present significant risks to the 
organisation and its stakeholders.  Maintenance of sufficient security to 
keep assets safe is essential in relation to property and information 
management. 
 

Recent reorganisation within the Council has resulted in the transfer of 
these functions between departments and identified that the governance 
framework for these services is inadequate.  Significant work is required 
to bring business plans, policy and procedures to an acceptable standard 
and to ensure compliance with legislative requirements, along with 
establishing and maintaining a project management framework to 
support the current service reviews and ensure that project objectives are 
met.   
 

* 

Museum Services ANA – Low Draft Improvements 
Required 

A comprehensive paper inventory maintains an effective record of the 
Torre Abbey collection of arts and social memorabilia.  This is gradually 
being replaced by the electronic MODES system and supplemented by 
other electronic documents; however the delayed completion of this 
process could adversely affect the accuracy of the resulting electronic 
record. 

Examination of records did identify inaccuracies with the accession 
register and the asset location details recorded on the inventory.  It was 
also noted that a copy of the accession register is not maintained off site 

* 

P
age 69



  

26 
 

COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

to support Torre Abbey’s legal ownership rights to collection items in the 
event of a total loss. 

The Abbey Project Board utilise admissions data to maximise income 
opportunity, although performance indicators have not been established 
to assist with monitoring.   

Collection of admissions and other income through the cash tills is 
effectively controlled, although arrangements for cashing up and the 
transit of monies could be improved, the insurance for the safe needs 
addressing and the pricing policy for souvenirs should be formalised. 

Income from the hire of rooms and grounds provides an increasing 
important source of revenue; whilst adequate processes exist to manage 
these arrangements and associated income, they are not consistently 
applied.  Income from property related sources is controlled through the 
centralised systems and generally effectively managed through the 
Torbay Development Agency, although the rent reviews have been 
delayed, the turnover rent for the leased café is not being billed and 
rental from land for car parking is not being received.  
 

Overall, despite the arrangements and practices in place and 
improvements since the last audit, the risks of loss of assets and loss of 
income remain. 
 

Review of expenditure arrangements demonstrated generally sound 
controls, however one instance of non-compliance with Financial 
Regulations in relation to a contract was noted, and accordingly, a 
recommendation has been made to prevent a similar recurrence. 
 

The following audits have not yet been started as they are not due to commence until the second half of the year: 
- Sports Facilities (ANA – Medium) 
- Housing Options (ANA – Low) 
- Torbay Coast and Countryside Trust (ANA – Medium)  

 

P
age 70



  

27 
 

COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

IT Audit 

Mobile Device 
Management 

ANA - Critical Final Good 
Standard 

Assurance was reported in last year’s report; please refer to that report 
for details. 
 

 

File Storage ANA-High Draft Improvements 
Required 

Assurance was reported in last year’s report; please refer to that report 
for details. 
 

 

Corporate Printing ANA – Medium Final Good 
Standard 

The project is a reasonably small scale project intended to identify and 
realise efficiency / financial savings through rationalisation of the print 
solutions.  The project is well managed and well supported through 
engaging an external supplier to undertake the status review and identify 
potential savings.  The project has appropriate staff members engaged.  
 
There is some linkage with the current Corporate Security project in 
relation to use of swipe cards linked to the multi-function devices. The 
project is also intended to enhance the cross charging process through 
the use of a centralised print budget linked to a print management 
system.  There are also cultural issues in terms of engaging staff in the 
printer rationalisation project as there is already some reluctance to 
release printers from specific areas. These issues are known issues and 
are being considered throughout the project.  Although the timing of the 
project was initially somewhat protracted due to reliance on the external 
supplier, it is now progressing reasonably well with an intended 
implementation date of December 2015.  
  

 

Change Control (Follow 
up) 

ANA – High Final Improvements 
Required 

Some progress against the agreed recommendations has taken place. 
We note that a number of recommendations remain to be completed and 
in some cases revised recommendations have been made. Timescales 
for some original outstanding recommendations have slipped in some 
instances and revised timescales have been detailed in the updated 
action plan.  

 

P
age 71



  

28 
 

COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

 
The primary issue originally identified was in relation to the need for 
implementation of a Change Management Tracking System.  This was 
originally piloted but the decision has subsequently been taken to no 
longer pursue this system; a weekly meeting has been instigated with 
attendance from various IT Teams to mitigate / minimise the associated 
risks, however this meeting is not formally documented or minuted and 
therefore Audit is unable to establish its effectiveness. 
 

Information Security 
Group 
 

Client Request Ongoing N/A Support continues to be provided in the form of attendance and active 
participation in the Information Security Group. This includes the review 
and update of the Information Security Policy Framework, and supporting 
policies such as the End User Computing policy and PCI compliance, 
which has recently been adopted. 

Work continues at the request of the client in terms of meeting 
attendance and active participation in arising associated activities 
including involvement in the group’s work on emerging issues. 

N/A 

The following audits are currently in progress. 
- Hosted Services - Checklist for Cloud Services (ANA – High) 
- Database Administration (ANA – High) 
- Harbour Mooring Replacement System (ANA – Medium) 

 
It is anticipated that the reports will be issued & agreed in the third quarter of 2015/16. No issues of major concern have been identified from our fieldwork to date. 
 

The following audits have not yet been started as they are not due to commence until the second half of the year: 
- Infrastructure Management - review of technical fit with ICT Roadmap (ANA – Critical) 
- Service Strategy - review following organisational change; and benchmarking of service delivery (ANA – High) 
- Partnership Working (ICT systems) TOR2 (ANA – High) 
- Service Operation - Corporate Access Management (ANA – High) 
- Channel Shift (ANA – High) 

 

P
age 72



  

29 
 

COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Material Systems (within Community and Customer Services, also shown in Corporate and Business Services ) 

Crisis Support Follow-
up 

ANA – Low Final Good 
Standard 

Assurance was reported in last year’s annual report; please refer to that 
report for details.   

Benefits ANA – Medium Draft Good 
Standard 

The benefits department is generally performing effectively.  A number of 
input / processing errors were identified, however although these were 
not deemed to be significant, or indicative of more serious underlying 
control weaknesses, there is a potential risk in relation to the accuracy of 
the Authority’s subsidy claim.   

A potential system issue in relation to the treatment of ‘unreported’ 
change notifications was also identified, and we have recommended that 
further investigation is undertaken to determine any resulting impact.   

Specific testing of overpayment recoveries or write-offs did not identify 
any issues.  

As was the case last year, the Quality Assurance process is generally 
robust; and benefit payments themselves are well controlled. 

Performance in terms of processing speed and accuracy is below target; 
however we understand this is due to a number of officers having been 
recently recruited, who are still in the process of being trained.   

A ‘high standard’ opinion has been given in relation to the risk,  
‘Inappropriate or inaccurate payments made or not recovered’, however 
this year’s approach has been to sample test the controls in place, and 
our opinion is based on the findings from this work.   

 

Council Tax & NDR ANA – medium Draft Improvements 
Required 

Overall there has been little progress in making the intended 
improvements to the control environment, and as a result 
recommendations have once again been made to properly embed and 
utilise the new processes, to complete on-going development of 
procedural documentation, and to make further enhancements to existing 
processes and controls. 

The review and confirmation of the ongoing appropriateness of bill 

 

P
age 73



  

30 
 

COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

reductions is not consistent or undertaken at a regular frequency, and 
changes to property valuation is not always timely, both resulting in a risk 
of unnecessary loss of income.  Performance targets do not sufficiently 
cover review of all discounts and exemptions, and generally performance 
targets are not being met. 

The team have continued to maintain accuracy and control over property 
valuations with amendments to billing adequately supported. 
 

The following audits are currently in progress: 

 IBS Open System Admin (ANA – High) 
 

It is anticipated that the reports will be issued & agreed in the third quarter of 2015/16. No issues of major concern have been identified from our fieldwork to date. 
 

The following audits have not yet been started as they are not due to commence until the second half of the year: 
- Benefits (ANA – Medium) 
- Council Tax & NDR (ANA – Medium) 
- Corporate Debt (ANA – Medium) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 74



  

31 
 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND INNOVATION 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Admissions in Place 
Planning and Pupil 
Referral Panel 

ANA - Medium Final  High Standard Audit has assessed that Torbay Schools Admission Team have been 
fully compliant with the Dept. for Education (DfE) Schools' Admission 
Code. 

The admission arrangements were easily found on the internet and 
show clearly the admission arrangements and policies for all schools.  
Audit found that all relevant documentation was up to date and 
covered all relevant areas. Parental applications were dealt with within 
a clear timetable.  Relevant checks by the Team were made to ensure 
compliance with the DfE School Admission Code and the relevant 
individual school policy.  

The work undertaken by the Senior Officer - Schools Services on the 
pupil referral panel was found to be excellent. The referrals from 
schools were dealt with in a timely manner and decisions made were 
found to be robust and based on good evidence and professional 
opinion. There was evidence of joint working with all agencies and 
professionals and the outcomes and actions for the child were tailored 
to their needs.  

A recommendation has been put in place for increased IT support.  

 

The following audits are currently in progress: 

 Transition from Children’s to Adults (ANA – Medium) 

 Fostering (ANA – High) 
It is anticipated that the reports will be issued & agreed in the third quarter of 2015/16. No issues of major concern have been identified from our fieldwork to date. 

The following audits have not yet been started as they are not due to commence until the second half of the year: 
- Virtual School (ANA - High) 
- Integrated Youth Service (ANA - Medium) 

The following audit has been cancelled as it is no longer required: 

 PARIS (ANA – Critical)  

P
age 75



  

32 
 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND INNOVATION 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Grants 

Early Years – 2 year old 
nursery education 
 

Client Request Completed Certified No issued identified 

 

The following audit is currently in progress: 

 Troubled Families x4 (Client request) 
 

It is anticipated that work on Troubled Families will be ongoing until the end of 2015/16.  No major concerns have been identified from our fieldwork to date. 
 

Maintained Schools 

Schools Financial Value 
Standards (SFVS) 
 

ANA – Low 
Mandatory for 
LA / Schools 

Final Good 
Standard 

SFVS Dedicated Schools Grant Chief Finance Office assurance 
statement for 2014/15 submitted to the Department for Education. 
 
 

 

Maintained Schools 
audit programme 

Agreed 
programme 
through ‘buy 
back’ 

On-going Good 
Standard 

The overall opinion for the routine school audit visits has been 
maintained as ‘good standard’ (refer to summary data below). The 
provision of internal audit’s performance data provides a greater focus 
on schools causing concerning in the wider control environment.  
 
 

 

 

Maintained Schools Summary Data 
Assurance 
Opinion 

The key matters arising from the audits are the:  

 understanding of financial management by governors and skills assessment as evidenced by the requirements of the Standard 

 demonstrable financing of plans for raising standards and attainment; and, 

 absence of financial benchmarking. 

Recommendations have been made to reduce risks and in other areas, recommendations made serve to strengthen what are reasonably reliable 
procedures. 

Good 
Standard 

P
age 76



  

33 
 

PUBLIC HEALTH 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Lifestyle Service 
Review – Consultations 
 

ANA - Medium Draft Work is currently on going with Public Health colleagues to agree the assurance opinion and 
report including the executive summary.    

The following audit has not yet been started as they are not due to commence until the second half of the year: 

 Public Health / NHS Links (ANA - High) 
 

 
 
 

ADULT SERVICES 

Risk Area / Audit Entity 

Risk 
Assessment / 
Audit Needs 
Assessment 

Audit Report  

Status Assurance 
Opinion 

Executive Summary Assurance 
Progress 

RAG Score 

Grants 

Autism Innovation 
 

Client Request Completed Certified No issued identified 

 
 

The following audit have not yet been started as they are not due to commence until the second half of the year: 

 NRS Joint Equipment (Client Request) 

 Care Act Implementation – Better Care Fund (ANA – High) 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

P
age 77



  

34 
 

Appendix 2 – Performance Indicators 
 
There are no national Performance Indicators in existence for Internal Audit, but the Partnership does monitor the following Local Performance Indicators LPI’s: 

 

Annual Local Performance Indicators (LPI) 2012/13 2012/13 
 
2013/14 2013/14 

 
2014/15 

 
2014/15 

 
2015/16 
 

 
2015/16  

 

Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual 
Full 

Year 
Target 

Six 
month 
Actual 

Percentage of Audit plan Commenced (Inc. Schools) 95% 99% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 67.1% 

Percentage of Audit plan Completed (Inc. Schools) 90% 93.1% 93% 90.4% 93% 91.7% 93% 36.2% 

Actual Audit Days as percentage of planned (Inc. Schools) 90% 95% 95% 105.9% 95% 99% 95% 46.2% 

Percentage of fundamental / material systems reviewed annually 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% On target 

Percentage of chargeable time 65% 66.1% 65% 69.3% 65% 67.8% 65% 67.3% 

Customer Satisfaction  - % satisfied or very satisfied as per feedback forms 90% 98% 90% 98% 90% 99% 90% 99% 

Draft Reports produced within target number of days (currently 15 days) 90% 98% 90% 83.2% 90% 77.7% 90% 60% 

Final reports produced within target number of days (currently 10 days) 90% 99% 90% 88.6% 90% 96.6% 90% 94.7% 

Average level of sickness absence (DAP as a whole) 2% 2.9% 2% 3% 2% 5.5% 2% 2.1% 

Percentage of staff turnover (DAP as a whole) 5% 8.5%  5% 3% 5% 16.6% 5% 6%* 

Out-turn within budget Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes On target 

 
 
Overall, performance against the indicators has been very good. We are aware that some of our draft and final reports were not issued to the customer within 
the agreed timeframes (15 working days for draft report and 10 working days for final report). We are reviewing areas where performance has been poor, and 
are working with our staff to ensure improvement is achieved.   
Note * - 2 staff on secondment to other services.

P
age 78



  

35 
 

Appendix 3 - Customer Service Excellence 

P
age 79



  

36 
 

Appendix 4 – Definitions 

Definitions of Audit Assurance Opinion Levels  
Confidentiality under the Government Security 
Classifications 

Assurance Definition Marking Definition 

High 
Standard. 

The system and controls in place adequately mitigate 
exposure to the risks identified. The system is being 
adhered to and substantial reliance can be placed upon the 
procedures in place. We have made only minor 
recommendations aimed at further enhancing already sound 
procedures.  

Official The majority of information that is created or processed by the public 
sector. This includes routine business operations and services, some of 
which could have damaging consequences if lost, stolen or published in the 
media, but are not subject to a heightened threat profile. 

Good 
Standard. 

The systems and controls generally mitigate the risk 
identified but a few weaknesses have been identified and / 
or mitigating controls may not be fully applied. There are no 
significant matters arising from the audit and the 
recommendations made serve to strengthen what are 
mainly reliable procedures.  

Secret Very sensitive information that justifies heightened protective measures to 
defend against determined and highly capable threat actors. For example, 
where compromise could seriously damage military capabilities, 
international relations or the investigation of serious organised crime. 

Improvements 
required. 

In our opinion there are a number of instances where 
controls and procedures do not adequately mitigate the risks 
identified. Existing procedures need to be improved in order 
to ensure that they are fully reliable. Recommendations 
have been made to ensure that organisational objectives are 
not put at risk. 

Top Secret The most sensitive information requiring the highest levels of protection 
from the most serious threats. For example, where compromise could 
cause widespread loss of life or else threaten the security or economic 
wellbeing of the country or friendly nations. 

Fundamental 
Weaknesses 
Identified. 

The risks identified are not being controlled and there is an 
increased likelihood that risks could occur. The matters 
arising from the audit are sufficiently significant to place 
doubt on the reliability of the procedures reviewed, to an 
extent that the objectives and / or resources of the Council 
may be at risk, and the ability to deliver the service may be 
adversely affected. Implementation of the recommendations 
made is a priority. 

  

 

P
age 80



Page 81

Agenda Item 7



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    

Audit Committee Update for Torbay 

Council  

 

Year ended  31 March 2016 

20 January 2016 

Alex Walling 

Engagement Lead  

T 0117 305 7804 

E  alex.j.walling@uk.gt.com 

Mark Bartlett 

Manager 

T 0117 305 7896 

E  mark.bartlett@uk.gt.com 

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 8



The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, 

which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process.  It is not a 

comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in 

particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect 

your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls.  This report has been prepared 

solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written 

consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, 

or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not 

prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose. 

. 

P
age 86



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    3 3 

Contents 

Section Page 

Introduction 4 

Progress at 8 January 2016 5 

Emerging issues and developments  

  Grant Thornton 7 

  Local government issues 12 

 
  

P
age 87



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    4 4 

Introduction 

 

This paper provides the Audit Committee with a report on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors.  The paper also 

includes: 

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you; and 

• a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues which the Committee may wish to consider. 

  

Members of the Audit Committee can find further useful material on our website www.grant-thornton.co.uk, where we have a section dedicated 

to our work in the public sector (http://www.grant-thornton.co.uk/en/Services/Public-Sector/). Here you can download copies of our publications 

including:   

• Making devolution work: A practical guide for local leaders 

• Spreading their wings: Building a successful local authority trading company 

• Easing the burden, our report on the impact of welfare reform on local government and social housing organisations 

• All aboard? our local government governance review 2015 

 

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive regular email updates 

on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Audit Manager. 

 

Alex Walling    Engagement Lead  T 0117 305 7804   M  07880 456142     alex.j.walling@uk.gt.com 

Mark Bartlett    Audit Manager        T 0117 305 7896   M  07880 456123     mark.bartlett@uk.gt.com 

 

P
age 88



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    5 5 

Progress at 8 January 2016 

Work Planned date Complete? Comments 

2015-16 Audit Plan 

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit 

plan to the Council setting out our proposed approach 

in order to give an opinion on the Council's 2015-16 

financial statements. 

 

March 2016 Not yet due We will present our Audit Plan to the March meeting 

of the Audit Committee. 

Interim accounts audit 

Our interim fieldwork visit includes: 

• updating our review of the Council's control 

environment 

• updating our understanding of financial systems 

• review of Internal Audit reports on core financial 

systems 

• early work on emerging accounting issues 

• early substantive testing 

• proposed Value for Money conclusion. 

 

Jan – March 2016 In progress Our interim audit started on site on 5 January 2016. 

The result of the interim audit will be reported in the 

Audit Plan to your March meeting. 

2015-16 final accounts audit 

Including: 

• audit of the 2015-16 financial statements 

• proposed opinion on the Council 's accounts 

• proposed Value for Money conclusion.  

June – July 2016 Not yet due We have agreed with officers that the audit will start 

in mid-June 2016 and we will bring our Audit 

Findings Report to your meeting on 27 July 2016. 

We will continue to have regular discussions with 

officers on emerging financial issues 

P
age 89



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    6 6 

Progress at 8 January 2016 

Work Planned date Complete? Comments 

Value for Money (VfM) conclusion 

The scope of our work to inform the 2015-16 VfM 

conclusion comprises: 

• Informed decision making 
• Sustainable resource deployment 
• Working with partners and other third parties 

 
This is different to the criteria considered in previous 
years and reflects the fact that the NAO are now 
responsible for issuing VFM guidance. 

Jan – March 2016 Not yet due We will carry out a risk assessment of the Authority's 

arrangements against the 2015/16 criteria. The 

results of the risk assessment will be reported in the 

Audit Plan to the March meeting of the Audit 

Committee. 

 

Annual Audit Letter 

A summary of all work completed as part of the 2015/16 

audit. 

October 2016 Not yet due 

Other areas of work – Certification of claims and 

returns 2014/15 

• Housing Benefits Subsidy Claim 

• Teachers' Pension return 

November 2015 Yes • We certified the Housing Benefits Subsidy claim 

on 26 November 2015. A qualification letter was 

not required.  The Certification Letter in respect of 

this work is included on the agenda of this 

meeting. 

• We also provided an unqualified conclusion in our 

reasonable assurance report on the Teachers' 

Pension return on 26 November 2015. 

Other activities 

Our annual financial statements workshops, run in conjunction with CIPFA  are being held in February. The Exeter event is on 17 February 2016 

at the Abode Hotel and Torbay officers have been invited.  

 

P
age 90



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    7 7 

Reforging local government  

Summary findings of  financial health checks and governance reviews 

Grant Thornton market insight 

The recent autumn statement represents the biggest change in local government finance in 35 years. The Chancellor announced that in 

2019/20 councils will spend the same in cash terms as they do today and that "better financial management and further efficiency" will be 

required to achieve the projected 29% savings. Based on our latest review of financial resilience at English local authorities, this presents a 

serious challenge to many councils that have already become lean.  
 

 Our research suggests that: 

• the majority of councils will continue to weather the financial storm, but to do so will 

now require difficult decisions to be made about services 

 

• most councils project significant funding gaps over the next three to five years, but the 

lack of detailed plans to address these deficits in the medium-term represents a key 

risk 

 

• Whitehall needs to go further and faster in allowing localities to drive growth and public 

service reform including proper fiscal devolution that supports businesses and 

communities 

 

• local government needs a deeper understanding of their local partners to deliver the 

transformational changes that are needed and do more to break down silos 

 

• elected members have an increasingly important role in ensuring good governance is 

not just about compliance with regulations, but also about effective management of 

change and risk 

 

• councils need to improve the level of consultation with the public when prioritising 

services and make sure that their views help shape council development plans. 

P
age 91



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    8 8 

Making devolution work: A practical guide for local leaders 

Grant Thornton market insight 

Our latest report on English devolution is intended as a practical guide for areas and partnerships making a case for devolved powers 

or budgets. 

  

The recent round of devolution proposals has generated a huge amount of interest and discussion and much progress has been 

made in a short period of time. However, it is very unlikely that all proposals will be accepted and we believe that this the start of an 

iterative process extending across the current Parliament and potentially beyond. 

  

With research partner Localis we have spent recent months speaking to senior figures across local and central government to get 

under the bonnet of devolution negotiations and understand best practice from both local and national perspectives. We have also 

directly supported the development of devolution proposals. In our view there are some clear lessons to learn about how local 

leaders can pitch successfully in the future.  

  

In particular, our report seeks to help local leaders think through the fundamental questions involved: 

 

• what can we do differently and better? 

• what precise powers are needed and what economic geography will be most effective?  

• what governance do we need to give confidence to central government? 

 

The report 'Making devolution work: A practical guide for local leaders' can be  

downloaded from our website:  

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/ 

 

Hard copies of our report are available from your Engagement Lead and Audit Manager 

P
age 92

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/


©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    9 9 

Turning up the volume: The Business Location Index 

Grant Thornton market insight 

Inward investment is a major component of delivering growth, helping to drive 

GDP, foster innovation, enhance productivity and create jobs, yet the amount 

of inward investment across England is starkly unequal.   

 

The Business Location Index has been created to help local authorities, local 

enterprise partnerships, central government departments and other 

stakeholders understand more about, and ultimately redress, this imbalance. It 

will also contribute to the decision-making of foreign owners and investors and 

UK firms looking to relocate.  

Based on in-depth research and consultation to identify the key factors that influence business location decisions around 

economic performance, access to people and skills and the environmental/infrastructure characteristics of an area, the Business 

Location Index ranks the overall quality of an area as a business location. Alongside this we have also undertaken an analysis of 

the costs of operating a business from each location. Together this analysis provides an interesting insight to the varied 

geography that exists across England, raising a number of significant implications for national and local policy makers.  

 

At the more local level, the index helps local authorities and local enterprise partnerships better understand their strengths and 

assets as business locations. Armed with this analysis, they will be better equipped to turn up the volume on their inward 

investment strategy, promote their places and inform their devolution discussions. 

 

The report 'Turning up the volume: The Business Location Index' can be downloaded from our website: 

 http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-

turning-up-the-volume.pdf 

 

Hard copies of our report are available from your Engagement Lead and Audit Manager 

P
age 93

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/publication/2015/business-location-index-turning-up-the-volume.pdf


©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    10 10 

Knowing the Ropes – Audit Committee Effectiveness Review  

Grant Thornton 

 

This is our first cross-sector review of audit committee effectiveness 

encompassing the corporate, not for profit and public sectors. It 

provides insight into the ways in which audit committees can create an 

effective role within an organisation’s governance structure and 

understand how they are perceived more widely. It is available at 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-

committee-effectiveness-review-2015/ 

 

The report is structured around four key issues: 

• What is the status of the audit committee within the organisation? 

• How should the audit committee be organised and operated? 

• What skills and qualities are required in the audit committee 

members? 

• How should the effectiveness of the audit committee be evaluated? 

 

It raises key questions that audit committees, 

board members and senior management should 

ask  themselves to challenge the effectiveness 

of their audit committee. 

 

Our key messages are summarised opposite.  

P
age 94

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/


©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    11 11 

Grant Thornton and the Centre for Public Scrutiny 

 

 We have teamed up with the Centre for Public Scrutiny to produce a member training programme on governance. Elected members are 

at the forefront of an era of unprecedented change, both within their own authority and increasingly as part of a wider local public sector 

agenda. The rising challenge of funding reductions, the increase of alternative delivery models, wider collaboration with other 

organisations and new devolution arrangements mean that there is a dramatic increase in the complexity of the governance landscape.  

 

 Members at local authorities – whether long-serving or newly elected – need the necessary support to develop their knowledge so that 

they achieve the right balance in their dual role of providing good governance while reflecting the needs and concerns of constituents.  

 

 To create an effective and on-going learning environment, our development programme is based around workshops and on-going 

coaching. The exact format and content is developed with you, by drawing from three broad modules to provide an affordable solution 

that matches the culture and the specific development requirements of your members. 

 

• Module 1 – supporting members to meet future challenges 

• Module 2 – supporting members in governance roles 

• Module 3 – supporting leaders, committee chairs and portfolio holders 

 

The development programme can begin with a baseline needs assessment, or be built on your own 

understanding of the situation. 

 

Further details are available from your Engagement Lead and Audit Manager 

Supporting members in governance 

P
age 95



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    12 12 

George Osborne sets out plans for local government to gain new powers and 

retain local taxes 

Local government issues 

 

The Chancellor unveiled the "devolution revolution" on 5 October involving major plans to devolve new powers from Whitehall to Local 

Government. Local Government will now be able to retain 100 per cent of local taxes and business rates to spend on local government 

services; the first time since 1990. This will bring about the abolition of uniform business rates, leaving local authorities with the power to 

cut business rates in order to boost enterprise and economic activity within their areas. However, revenue support grants will begin to be 

phased out and so local authorities will have to take on additional responsibility. Elected Mayors, with the support of local business 

leaders in their LEPs, will have the ability to add a premium to business rates in order to fund infrastructure, however this will be capped at 

2 per cent.  

 

There has been a mixed reaction to this announcement. Some commentators believe that this will be disastrous for authorities which are 

too small to be self-sufficient. For these authorities, the devolution of powers and loss of government grants will make them worse off. It 

has also been argued that full devolution will potentially drive up council's debt as they look to borrow more to invest in business 

development, and that this will fragment the creditworthiness of local government.  

P
age 96



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    13 13 

Councils must deliver local plans for new homes by 2017 

Local government issues 

 

The Prime Minister announced on 12 October that all local authorities must have plans for the development of new homes in their area by 

2017, otherwise central government will ensure that plans are produced for them. This will help achieve government's ambition of 1 million 

more new homes by 2020, as part of the newly announced Housing and Planning Bill.  

 

The government has also announced a new £10 million Starter Homes fund, which all local authorities will be able to bid for. The Right to 

Buy Scheme has been extended with a new agreement with Housing Associations and the National Housing Federation. The new 

agreement will allow a further 1.3 million families the right to buy, whilst at the same time delivering thousands of new affordable homes 

across the country. The proposal will increase home ownership and boost the overall housing supply. Housing Association tenants will 

have the right to buy the property at a discounted rate and the government will compensate the Housing Associate for their loss. 

 P
age 97



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    14 14 

Improving efficiency of  council tax collection 

Local government issues 

 

DCLG have published "Improving Efficiency for Council Tax Collection", calling for consultation on the proposals to facilitate 

improvements in the collection and enforcement processes in business rates and council tax. The consultation is aimed specifically at 

local authorities, as well as other government departments, businesses and any other interested parties. The consultation document 

states that council tax collection rates in 2014-15 are generally high (at 97 per cent), however the government wishes to explore further 

tools for use by local authorities and therefore seeks consultation from local authorities on DCLG's proposals. The consultation closes on 

18 November. 

 

The Government proposes to extend the data-sharing gateway which currently exists between HMRC and local authorities. Where a 

liability order has been obtained, the council taxpayer will have 14 days to voluntarily share employment information with the council to 

enable the council to make an attachment to earnings. If this does not happen, the Government proposes to allow HMRC to share 

employment information with councils. This would help to avoid further court action, would provide quicker access to reliable information, 

and would not impose any additional costs on the debtor. The principle of this data-sharing is already well-established for council 

taxpayers covered by the Local Council Tax Support scheme, and it would make the powers applying to all council tax debtors consistent. 

Based on the results of the Manchester/HMRC pilot, Manchester estimate that £2.5m of debt could potentially be recouped in their area 

alone. 

 

P
age 98



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP    

© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.  

'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited 
liability partnership.  

Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are 
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate 
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires. 
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by 
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities 
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide 
services to clients.  

grant-thornton.co.uk 

Back page 

P
age 99



 
 

 
Meeting:  Audit Committee Date: 20th January 2016  
 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
Report Title:  Performance and Risk  
 
Is the decision a key decision? No 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?  N/A 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details: Anne-Marie Bond, Assistant Director Corporate and 
Business Services, 01803 207160, Anne-Marie.Bond@torbay.gov.uk  
 

 
1. Update 

 
1.1 Further to the performance and risk framework being presented to the Audit 

Committee and as agreed by this committee, the chairs of both the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board and the Audit Committee have met to discuss how and where 
performance and risk information should be reviewed and challenged.  
 

1.2 Historically, performance information has been presented to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board for them to review and challenge. However, by bringing 
performance and risk information together into one report the chairs of each 
committee agreed that these reports should be considered by the Audit Committee.  
 

1.3 It is also considered appropriate at this time to consider the regularity of the Audit 
Committee to ensure they receive performance and risk information in a timely 
manner.  Therefore it is recommended that the Audit Committee meet every two 
months.  The Audit Committee will receive an informal briefing two weeks before 
the committee meets to review performance and risk and identify areas which they 
would like to understand and / or challenge further at the committee itself and 
identify relevant Executive Leads and Officers who will need to invited.  
 

1.4 In light of the proposal for Audit Committee to meet every two months, it is also 
proposed that the committee meet informally to discuss the way forward for the 
committee and to identify a work programme.  

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Anne-Marie.Bond@torbay.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	5 Treasury Management Strategy 2016/17 (incorporating the Annual Investment Strategy 2016/17 and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2016/17)
	6 Internal Audit - Half Year Report 2015/16
	7 Certification Work for Torbay Council for Year Ended 31 March 2015
	8 Audit Committee Update for Torbay Council
	9 Performance and Risk

